
SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
P. O. BOX 98 – DOWNIEVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95936 

COMMISSIONERS 

APPOINTED BY SIERRA COUNTY              APPOINTED BY THE COMMISSION        APPOINTED BY CITY OF LOYALTON 
         PAUL ROEN – CHAIR                PAUL CUETO   SUE MCILRAVY - VICE CHAIR 

   SHARON DRYDEN      NANCY ROGERS 
    LILA HEUER      JERRY GEROW       

TERRY LEBLANC -ALTERNATE        BILL MERTTON - ALTERNATE

WEDNESDAY 
JANUARY 15, 2025  305 SOUTH LINCOLN 
10:00 A.M. SIERRAVILLE, CA 

This meeting will be open to in-person attendance and available to the public via teleconference. 
The public may observe and provide public comments by using the Teams options below: 

By Phone: 1-323-892-2486 
Access Code: 754942201# 

Meeting ID:  284 142 577 88 
Passcode:  ZddH37 

By PC: https://tinyurl.com/SCTC-meeting 

In compliance with Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, and in 
compliance with the Ralph M. Brown Act, anyone requiring reasonable accommodation to 

participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, should contact the SCTC office at 
(530) 289-3201 at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting.

AGENDA 

Matters under the jurisdiction of the Commission, and whether or not on the posted agenda, may 
be addressed by the general public during the Public Comment Opportunity time.  No action may 
be taken, or substantive discussion pursued on matters not on the posted agenda.   

1. Call to Order and Roll Call and Introductions - 10:00 A.M.

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Approval of Agenda

4. Approval of Minutes of  September 25, 2024  

5. Election of 2025 Chair

6. Election of 2025 Vice Chair

7. Announcements

8. Public Comment Opportunity

9. Transit  

https://tinyurl.com/SCTC-meeting
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A. Discussion and report on status of Transit Fund and Transit Services including the mid-
year fund estimate and authorization to advise LTF claimants of anticipated area
apportionments within Sierra County.

10. Master Fund Transfer Agreement  

A. Report on the status of the Caltrans 2025-2034 Master Fund Transfer Agreement.

11. Overall Work Program  

A. Report on the status of the Overall Work Program budget and activities for the current fiscal year.

B. Resolution approving an amendment to the FY 24-25 Overall work Program authorizing the Chair 
or Executive Director to execute Overall Work Program Agreement 2025-01. 

12. Regional Transportation Plan  

A. Report on the status of the 2025 Regional Transportation Plan update.

13. Sustainable Transportation Planning Grant Program  

A. Approval of letter of support for the Rural County Representatives of California (RCRC) 
application to Caltrans FY 2025-26 Sustainable Transportation Planning Grant Program -
Sustainable Communities Competitive Grant to develop a county and regional Zero Emission 
Vehicle Infrastructure Readiness Plan. 

14. Audits  

A. Financial Statements & Audit Report for FY 23-24 for the Golden Rays Senior Citizens of Sierra 
County, Inc. prepared by Pehling’s PnPCPA in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

B. Financial Statements together with Independent Auditor’s Report for FY 23-24 for the Sierra 
County Transit Fund prepared by Smith & Newell, CPSs in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards. 

C. Resolution accepting FY 23-24 audit for the Sierra County Transit Fund and concur with the 
management response. 

D. Financial Statements together with Independent Auditor’s Report for FY 23-24 for the Sierra 
County Transportation Commission prepared by Smith & Newell, CPSs in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards. 

E. Resolution accepting FY 23-24 audit for the Sierra County Transportation Commission and concur 
with the management response. 

15. Correspondence  
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A. Letter from North State Super Region to the California Energy Commission pertaining to 
the Clean Transportation Program Investment Plan. 

B. Email correspondence from the City of Loyalton regarding newly appointed 
Transportation Commissioners. 

16. CALTRANS Report

North Region Projects Viewer (arcgis.com)

17. Project Updates

18. Other Transportation Issues  

A. Informational speed zone justification report from the Department of Transportation, 
District 3 pertaining to Sierra City speed zones. 

19. Schedule Next Meeting

20. Adjourn

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.arcgis.com%2fapps%2fdashboards%2f239772ff383d416483addc029ae9c6fa&c=E,1,TK6MNSSvm6Jol-QupeF_rCpgxHoYcNOXyFgM9XDQ7pJGWR22TQ0epEMiAsXQOsH-2BapoSm4gl0Pc-7jWXDzzwEB6HY2FXecYoiCxUlNFFKbmiGImV4Vh20t2YE,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2farcgis.com&c=E,1,5CHA6i3X7R-rgoPxbpzxp79bI_4Eobt4RqHdPqUlU-oxzhN37wPm0cAa61-SlBlqFn7AhrRbQNT2xE0-LoP0XNtyTP2qtWq_8GwHmUxj32wZHScQng,,&typo=1&ancr_add=1
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
P. O. BOX 98 – DOWNIEVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95936 

COMMISSIONERS 

APPOINTED BY SIERRA COUNTY              APPOINTED BY THE COMMISSION        APPOINTED BY CITY OF LOYALTON 
         PAUL ROEN – CHAIR                PAUL CUETO   SUE MCILRAVY - VICE CHAIR 

   SHARON DRYDEN  JOY MARKUM 
    LILA HEUER         NANCY ROGERS          
TERRY LEBLANC -ALTERNATE      BILL MERTTON - ATERNATE   

WEDNESDAY 
SEPTEMBER 25, 2024 305 SOUTH LINCOLN 
10:00 A.M. SIERRAVILLE, CA 

MINUTES 

1. Call to Order:

This meeting was called to order at 10:00 a.m. by Chair Roen

       Roll Call: 

Commissioner Present: Heuer, Rogers, Markum, McIlravy, Dryden, Roen
Commissioner Absent: Cueto
A Quorum was established.

Staff Present: Bryan Davey, Executive Director; Kaylon Hall, Transportation Planner and Suzanne
Smith, Executive Secretary

Also in attendance: Sandra Loving, President, Golden Rays Senior Citizens of Sierra County, Inc.;
Joyce White, Vice President, Golden Rays Seniors Citizens of Sierra County, Inc.; Kathy Williams,
Transportation Coordinator, Golden Rays Seniors Citizens of Sierra County, Inc.; Magdalene 
DeBerg, Executive Director, Incorporated Senior Citizens of Sierra County and one member from the 
public

2. Pledge of Allegiance:  Led by Commissioner Dryden 

3. Approval of Agenda:

Commission Action:  Commissioner Markum  moved to approve the agenda; seconded by
Commissioner Rogers; motion carried by consensus.

4. Approval of Minutes:

Commission Action:  Commissioner McIlravy moved to approve the minutes of July 17, 2024;
seconded by Commissioner Markum; motion carried by consensus.

5. Announcements:  Magdalene DeBerg announced that Incorporated Senior Citizens of Sierra County
Transportation Coordinator, Gloria Shelton has decided to retire effective November 2024. An
advertisement for the vacate position will be published in the next issue of the Sierra Booster. Mr.
Davey expressed appreciation for the great job Ms. Shelton did and stated it was a pleasure to work
with her acknowledging the huge loss it will be to the organization.

Commissioner Dryden announced that the Sierra Brooks evacuation due to the Bear Fire went
smoothly.

Agenda Packet page 4



Draf
t

SCTC Minutes Page 2 
 

  

Mr. Davey announced that $189K version request for the 2020 Loyalton Fire was approved today. 
Mr. Davey explained that a version request is made when more money is needed to pay for all the 
damages than originally requested.   

 
6. Public Comment Opportunity:   No public comment was given. 

 
7. Transit  

 
Status of SB 125 – Formula-Based Transit and Intercity Rail Capital Program and Zero       Emission 
Transit Capital Program.  
Miss Hall reported that as of August 7, 2024 the SB 125 funds have be approved in an amount of 
$578,077 for operating assistance, $63,000 for reduced fair and $260,000 for new bus procurement 
concluding that the SB 125 funding is a significant amount of money for the next couple of years. 
Miss Hall continued that she expects an update in the next couple of weeks as to when the SB 125 
funds will be received. Mr. Davey added that the transfer information for the funds has been sent 
assuring the Transportation Commission that although the funds have not actually been received it is 
imminent the funds are coming. The previous concern of not receiving the SB 125 is no longer an 
issue.   

Resolution amending the FY 2024-25 Transit Operation Budget. 
Miss Hall reported that both transit operation budgets were set at $75,000 each. With the SB 125 
funds those budgets are being amended to increase the Golden Rays Senior Citizens of Sierra County, 
Inc, budget to $107,225.10 and the Incorporated Senior Citizens of Sierra County budget to 
$142,518.60. Mr. Davey explained that these amended budgets are the budgets that were previously 
approved by the Transportation Commission and then put on hold pending the confirmation of the SB 
125 funding. These amended amounts are the awards to each of the transit providers. Mr. Davey 
further stated there is an additional 10% in the transit providers budget that needs to be collected from 
the Farebox revenue for the total budget.  
 
Commissioner Markum raised a concern pertaining to Farebox amounts stating that what is being 
collected might not be enough to cover the cost of fuel. Commissioner Roen clarified that the Farebox 
only has to recoup 10% of the actual cost. Mr. Davey commented that both transit providers have 
successfully contributed the 10% Farebox requirements noting that the 10% Farebox does not have to 
come 100% from the actual fares that have been collected stating it is acceptable to make other 
contributions from other resources. Mr. Davey mentioned that with the SB 125 there are provisions to 
build a reduced fare program, however in previous discussions such a program didn’t seem feasible. 
Mr. Davey further stated that the goal is to provide the best possible services to the community with 
the resources that are available. Mr Davey commended both transit organizations for doing a 
phenomenal job. Commissioner Markum clarified that she is not complaining or saying the transit 
providers are not doing a good job. She is concerned about the financial side of things and wants to 
make sure sufficient fares are being charged and expressed her appreciation for the transit providers 
stating, “We are very lucky to have them”. Commissioner Roen stated that the budget is the transit 
providers budget and it is up to them to decide what to do with the funding and clarified that the 
Transportation Commission is not here to tell the transit provider how to run their businesses.  
 
Commission Dryden spoke about the misunderstanding of public perception that transit services in 
Sierra County are for senior citizens only suggesting that both transit providers consider rebranding or 
adding the term “Sierra County Public Transit” to communicate to the communities that the transit 
services are not just for seniors. Mr. Davey explained that in the early 1970’s, the transit program 
began under the Transportation Development Act with a quarter percent sales tax. Mr. Davey 
continued explaining that suddenly there was money coming in for a transportation program and a 
responsibility to figure out how to provide transit services for Sierra County. Mr. Davey further 
explained there is a program called 5310, which is specialized transit services for senior and disabled 
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citizens only. This 5310 grant funding is what started the Sierra County transit program. Vans were 
purchased under this program with the stipulation of providing priority services for senior and 
disabled citizens. There is also a program called 5311 which is public transportation. The 5310 
funding allowed for the purchase of the vans with specialized operations and the 5311 funding 
allowed for general transit operations. After many years of operating under the 5310 (specialized) and 
the 5311 (operations) grant programs Caltrans decided that the two programs could not be used 
together as one program. At which time the decision was made by the Transportation Commission to 
stick with the 5311 program. With that decision made, it is no longer possible to say that Sierra 
County transit services were specialized for senior and disabled citizens only. The 5311 program is 
public transportation available to serve the general public. Mr. Davey further explained that the two 
transit providers for Sierra County cannot handle the demand of a largely expanded program. 
However, with the services provided by both Golden Rays Senior Citizens of Sierra County, Inc. and 
Incorporated Senior Citizens of Sierra County transit services are being provided to meet the needs of 
the citizens of Sierra County. A short discussion ensued pertaining to the challenges each transit 
provider faces. Ms. DeBerg responded to Commissioner Dryden’s suggestion to rebrand the name on 
the transit vehicles by considering changing the name to make it clear that the transit services being 
provided are for the general public. Commissioner Dryden stated that she now understands the 
labeling on the transit vehicles to identify and meet the need of senior citizens for transit services in 
Sierra County as well as the general public. Ms. Loving stated that the task of being a transit provider 
in Sierra County is a lot of work and very challenging from all aspects. Commissioner Roen 
expressed appreciation for all the effort that is put in by the transit providers stating it is a huge 
benefit to the citizens of Sierra County. Ms. Loving further stated that the transit services being 
provided by Golden Ray Senior Citizens of Sierra County, Inc. are for everyone of all ages.  
 
Commission Action:  Commissioner Dryden moved to adopt Resolution 2024-15 amending the FY 
2024-25 Transit Operation Budget; seconded by Commissioner Heuer; motion carried unanimously 
by roll call vote. 

 
      Discussion and report on status of Transit Fund and Transit Services within Sierra County.  

A fund estimate spreadsheet was distributed showing the ongoing tabulations of the Local 
Transportation Fund (LTF), State Transit Assistance (STA) and State of Good Repair (SGR). Miss 
Hall reported that so far this year the LTF (1/4 % Local Sales and Use Tax) which is used for 
operations and administrative expenses is $9,410.44, with a year to date balance of $15,265.60, the 
STG balance is $5,527.00 and the STA balance is $38,711.00. Miss Hall continued to report that she 
recently submitted a request for reimbursement of $27,731.38 for the remaining Covid 2 funding 
which leaves a balance of $50K from the America Rescue Plan Act (ARPA). Miss Hall continued to 
report that the SB 125 funding of $578,077.00 has been approved and is reflected in the fund estimate 
spreadsheet. 
 
Resolution approving the surplus of one (1) transit vehicle for transfer, sale or disposal.   
Miss Hall explained that the resolution in the agenda packet has a typographical error listing the 
wrong vehicle information noting that a corrected resolution is before the Commissioners for 
approval. A short discussion ensued as to whether the vehicle should be donated or disposed.  
 
Direction was given to staff to determine whether there is a local agency to donate to and to bring the 
findings back to the Transportation Commission at the next meeting. 
 
Commission Action:  Commissioner Dryden moved to adopt Resolution 2024-16 approving the 
surplus of one (1) transit vehicle for transfer, sale or disposal; seconded by Commissioner Markum; 
motion carried unanimously by roll call vote. 
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8. Overall Work Program  
 

Report on status of the Overall Work Program budget for the current fiscal year.  
Miss Hall reported that she is working with Green DOT Transportation Solutions updating the 2025 
Sierra County Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) stating there will be a second community outreach 
event at the Loyalton Senior Center lunch, Tuesday October 22, 2024 at 12 p.m. noting that the first 
community outreach event in Downieville went very well due to the number of people who provided 
feedback and filled out the 2025 RTP surveys. 

 
9. Audits 

 
Financial Statements, Independent Auditors’ Reports and Supplementary Information for FY 2022-23 
for Incorporated Senior Citizens of Sierra County prepared by The PUN Group, LLP in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards. No action needs to be taken. 

10. Planning, Programming and Monitoring 

Resolution approving agreement for STIP Planning, Programming & Monitoring Program Fund 
Transfer. Project Number:  PPM25-6150(041); Agreement Number:  PPM25-6150(041). Miss Hall 
explained that the STIP, Planning, Programming & Monitoring Program Fund Transfer agreement is 
in the amount of $28,000.00. Mr. Davey explained that this PPM agreement is the annual allocation 
for STIP funding to assist in the planning of projects that is used for administrative purposes along 
with engineering, planning, programming and monitoring.   
 
Commission Action:  Commissioner McIlravy moved to adopt Resolution 2024-17 Resolution 
approving agreement for STIP Planning, Programming & Monitoring Program Fund Transfer. Project 
Number:  PPM25-6150(041); Agreement Number:  PPM25-6150(041); seconded by Commissioner 
Heuer; motion carried unanimously by roll call vote. 

11. Transportation Planning – Master Fund Transfer Agreement 
 
Resolution approving the 2025 Master Fund Transfer Agreement and authorizing the Executive 
Director and Sierra County Counsel to execute said agreement. 
Miss Hall explained that the Master Fund Transfer Agreement (MFTA) confirms the mutual fiscal 
responsibilities between the Transportation Commission and Caltrans stating this is a ten (10) year 
agreement noting that the last MFTA was executed in 2014. Mr. Davey added that the MFTA is an 
overall arching agreement that allows the Transportation Commission to receive funds from the 
FHWA and Caltrans. The MFTA must be in place to execute individual project agreement. Mr. 
Davey also explained that there is a separate MFTA for the County of Sierra that is completely 
separate from the Transportation Commission MFTA and also on a different ten (10) year time frame.   
 
Commission Action:  Commissioner Dryden moved to adopt Resolution 2024-18 approving the 
2025 Master Fund Transfer Agreement and authorizing the Executive Director and Sierra County 
Counsel to execute said agreement; seconded by Commissioner Heuer; motion carried unanimously 
by roll call vote. 

12. Correspondence 
 
California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) District 3 letter respectfully requesting the 
SCTC’s attendance at the annual information sharing and coordination forum on Tuesday May 13, 
2025 from 10:00 a.m. to 11:30 a.m. in person at the Board of Supervisors Chambers, 100 Courthouse 
Square, Downieville, CA 95936.  
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Miss Hall stated that Caltrans is asking that the meeting be a virtual meeting. Miss Hall explained that 
the meeting is to discuss current and proposed projects, planning and maintenance efforts and 
opportunities to partner and develop projects mutually beneficial to our agencies and the traveling 
public. Mr. Davey reminded the Transportation Commission that usually there is one participant from 
the City of Loyalton and one participant from Sierra County. The two participants will be 
Commissioner McIlravy and Commissioner Roen and an alternate participant will be Commissioner 
Heuer. Mr. Davey stated that everyone is welcomed to attend if there is a desire as there is no action 
being taken. Commissioner Heuer expressed that the meeting is very interesting to attend.  

13. CALTRANS Report  

North Region Projects Viewer (arcgis.com  

Mr. Davey explained that Caltrans provided a link to a GIS site where anyone can login and view 
Caltrans projects. A discussion ensued regarding the painting of the City of Loyalton crosswalks. 
Commissioner McIlravy confirmed that the crosswalks have been painted. Commissioner McIlravy 
asked to clarify who is responsible for the crosswalks at the corner of Fourth and Church Streets to 
give access to student going to the school. Commissioner Roen and Mr. Davey confirmed that it is the 
responsibility of the City of Loyalton. Mr. Davey explained that the City of Loyalton owns the roads 
noting that the County has provided the City with road maintenance and can continue however, the 
City would have to pay for the services provided noting that the County cannot expend Sierra County 
Road funds on a City of Loyalton project. Mr. Davey also stated that the County has given the City a 
proposal to paint crosswalks. Commissioner McIlravy will follow up with the proposal from the 
County. 

14. Project Updates 

Smithneck Road Rehabilitation project Mr. Davey reported that the historical and archeological 
studies are more in-depth than previously anticipated as there were resources found that will require 
additional work with NEPA. Mr. Davey stated that the findings should not extend the timeframe of 
the project. It is extra work and extra cost however; the work is within the Scope of Work of the 
project as well as the budget. Mr. Davey continued that the project is currently moving into the PS&E 
(Plans, Specification & Estimate) phase which is the final design stage. All the documentation has 
been submitted to get this project programmed by December with an anticipation of going into the 
construction phase by 2026-27. Commissioner Dryden expressed the community concerns of the 
current condition of the road stating that the road is in bad shape requesting that temporary repairs be 
made. Mr. Davey will continue to work with Commissioner Dryden regarding temporary repairs. Ms. 
Loving asked how the recent Bear Fire effected the roads. Mr. Davey explained that the fire jumped 
Smithneck Road however, there is no significant damage from the most recent fire.  

Salmon Lake Road Bridge Replacement over Church Creek Mr. Davey reported the project received 
the final voucher today bringing the project 100% complete and closed out.  

Packer Lake Road Bridge Replacement over Salmon Creek Mr. Davey reported the project is working 
on the final punch list and a Notice of Completion to begin close out of the project.  

Nevada Street Bridge Rehabilitation is in the phase of Professional Engineering Services and moving 
forward.  

Plumbago Road over Kanaka Creek Bridge Replacement Mr. Davey reported the PS&E phase is 
complete and it is anticipated that the project will be going out for construction bid very soon. 
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15. Other Transportation Issues 

There are no other transportation issues. 
  
16. Schedule Next Meeting 
 

The next meeting is scheduled for November 20, 2024 at the Sierraville School. 
 
17. Adjourn 

 
Chair Roen adjourned the meeting at 11:07 a.m. 
 
 

 
 

       _____________________________________ 
                     , Chair 
        Sierra County Transportation Commission 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Suzanne Smith, Executive Secretary 
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Sierra County Transportation Commission 
Meeting:  January 15, 2025 
Agenda Item 9 – Transit 

A. Discussion and report on status of Transit Fund and Transit Services including the mid-year
fund estimate and authorization to advise LTF claimants of anticipated area apportionments
within Sierra.

Background:  Estimate of Fund by County Auditor 21 CA ADC § 6620 - Prior to February
1 of each year, each county auditor shall furnish to the transportation-planning agency an
estimate of moneys to be available for apportionment and allocation during the ensuing fiscal
year.  The estimate shall include those moneys anticipated to be deposited in the fund during
the ensuing fiscal year and the unrestricted balance anticipated to be available in the fund at
the end of the current fiscal year.  The unrestricted balance is the balance that is neither
allocated, reserved, nor retained in the fund as an unallocated apportionment pursuant to
Section 6655.1.  The county auditor shall make his estimate from such data as he may have
including those, which may be furnished by the State Board of Equalization.  The county
auditor shall furnish a revised or updated estimate of funds available whenever requested to
do so by the transportation-planning agency.

Recommended Motion:  Authorize staff to advise LTF claimants (Transit Providers) of
anticipated area apportionments with Sierra County for the next fiscal year.
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Sierra County Transportation Commission  
Meeting:  January 15, 2025 
Agenda Item 10 – Master Fund Transfer Agreement 
 

A. Report on status of the Caltrans 2025-2034 Master Fund Transfer Agreement. 
 
No action required. 
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Sierra County Transportation Commission  
Meeting:  January 15, 2025 
Agenda Item 11 – Overall Work Program  
 
 

A. Report on status of the Overall Work Program budget and activities for the current fiscal 
year. 
 
This is a standing agenda item.  No action required. 

B. Resolution approving an amendment to the FY 2024-25 Overall Work Program authorizing 
the Chair or Executive Director to execute Overall Work Program Agreement 2025-01. 

Background:  Due to the implementation of the 2025 Master Fund Transfer Agreement (MFTA) 
for planning, it is necessary to update the current Overall Work Program Agreement to reflect the 
new MFTA contract number. 

Recommended Motion:  Adopt Resolution 2025-01 amending FY 2024-25 Overall Work 
Program and approve Overall Work Program Agreement 2025-01. 
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
 
 

In the Matter of 
Amended FY 2024-25  

Overall Work Program Agreement 
 

Resolution 2025-01 
 
 

BE IT RESOLVED that due to the implementation of a new Master Fund Transfer 
Agreement for planning, an amended 2024-25 Overall Work Program Agreement is hereby 
approved and adopted. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Sierra County Transportation Commission 
authorizes the Chair or the Executive Director of the Sierra County Transportation Commission 
as the positions designated with the responsibility to execute the standard Overall Work Program 
Agreement and payment requests. 
 

ADOPTED by the Sierra County Transportation Commission on the 15th day of January 
2025, by the following vote: 
 
AYES: _________________________________________ 
NOES: _________________________________________ 
ABSTAINED: _________________________________________ 
ABSENT: _________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
       _____________________________________ 
                                                                    , Chair 
       Sierra County Transportation Commission 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Suzanne Smith, Executive Secretary 
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OVERALL WORK PROGRAM AGREEMENT (OWPA)
Sierra County Transportation Commission

MFTA#: 74A1646     
AGENCY DUNS#:   4048204 

AGENCY UEI#:   NA7LYJSG6318

FY: 2024-2025

CFDA # Funding Source
MIN 

Required 
Match %

CURRENT FY 
Allocated 

Programmed 
Amount 

CARRYOVER 
Programmed 

Amount

Toll Credit 
Match

Local/In-
Kind 

Match

TOTAL 
Estimated 

Expenditures

20.205 FHWA PL (Toll Credit) 11.47% $0.00

20.205 FHWA PL (Local/In-kind Match) 11.47% $0.00

20.205 FHWA PL (CS LM Waiver) 0.00% $0.00

20.505 FTA 5303 (Toll Credit Match) 11.47% $0.00

20.505 FTA 5303 (Local/In-kind Match) 11.47% $0.00

20.505 FTA 5304 11.47% $0.00

20.205 FHWA SPR 20.00% $0.00

RPA 0.00% $125,500.00 $21,964.84 $147,464.84

RPA Grants 0.00% $0.00

SHA Grants 11.47% $0.00

SB1 Formula 11.47% $0.00

SB1 Competitive 11.47% $0.00

SHA-Climate Adaptation 11.47% $0.00

Total Programmed Amount $125,500.00 $21,964.84 $0.00 $0.00 $147,464.84

Fed/State       CT

Signature of Department of Transportation Resources/Accounting Officer

DateAuthorized Signature

1OWP Board Approval Date: 7/17/2024 Amendment #:

Agency Certification of Programmed Funds District Approval of Programmed Funds

1. The undersigned signatory hereby commits to complete this Fiscal Year (FY) the Annual Overall Work Program (OWP),  which has been approved by the
Department of Transportation (Caltrans), Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) and Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and is attached as part of this
OWPA.

2. All of the obligations, duties, terms and conditions set forth in the Master Fund Transfer Agreements (MFTA)that was executed January 1, 2025 through
December 31, 2034 with Caltrans are incorporated by reference as part of this OWPA for this FY. 

3. Match amounts, sources, and eligibility for Regional Transportation Planning Funds listed below, must be in compliance with Federal, State, or
contractually agreed upon requirements. 

4. Subject to the availability of funds this FY OWPA funds encumbered by Caltrans include, but may not exceed, the following:

Date

(HQ Department of Transportation Use Only)

The total amount of FEDERAL funds encumbered by this document are:  $  ______________________________

I hereby certify upon my own personal knowledge that budgeted funds are available for the period and expenditure purpose stated above.

Item:  ____________________________________ Chapter Statute:  ____________ Fiscal Year: ______________

The total amount of STATE funds encumbered by this document are:  $  ______________________________
Fund Title: ________________________________

Encumbrance Details:

Amount $Phase/FundAcct Line #            Project ID

The Agency certifies that programmed amounts are representative of eligible and The District has reviewed and approves the OWPA as submitted.  Programmed 

Item:  ____________________________________ Chapter Statute:  ____________ Fiscal Year: ______________

DateAuthorized Signature

Printed Name and Title Printed Name and Title
Bryan Davey, Executive Director

Fund Title: ________________________________

12/4/2024

CFDA for Federal Funds *20.505 Metropolitan Transportation Planning and State and Non-Metropolitan Planning and Research/**20.205 Highway Planning and Construction Rev Oct. 2024
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0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

0.1. INTRODUCTION 

The Sierra County Transportation Commission (SCTC) is the Regional Transportation Planning Agency (RTPA) for Sierra 
County, responsible for overseeing the development and implementation of transportation planning within the region. 
As a rural county nestled in the northern Sierra Nevada, Sierra County’s transportation network serves diverse needs, 
including local travel, tourism, and emergency services. SCTC’s mission is to ensure a transportation system that is safe, 
efficient, and accessible to all residents while preserving the county’s natural environment. 

Federal law (Title 23 CFR 450.300, Subpart B) and California Government Code Section 65080 mandate RTPAs to 
prepare long-range transportation plans to guide transportation investments over a minimum 20-year horizon. The 
2025 Sierra County Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) serves as a roadmap for addressing current transportation 
challenges and preparing for future needs. By updating the RTP every four to five years, Sierra County remains eligible 
for critical state and federal funding programs. 

The 2025 RTP builds on the foundation of the 2020 plan, incorporating updated data and addressing new priorities, 
such as climate resilience, equity, and emerging technologies. It considers all modes of transportation, including 
roadways, public transit, active transportation, freight, aviation, and emergency routes. Developed through 
collaboration with Caltrans, Tribal governments, community stakeholders, and the public, the RTP aligns with state 
and federal goals while addressing Sierra County’s unique rural context. 

Key Elements of the RTP: 

• Policy Element: Defines regional goals and policies, addressing safety, equity, sustainability, and economic 
vitality. 

• Action Element: Outlines prioritized projects across transportation modes to meet the county’s needs. 

• Financial Element: Identifies available funding sources and financial strategies to support the planned projects. 
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0.2. OVERVIEW OF REGIONAL VISION 

Sierra County envisions a transportation network that fosters connectivity, supports economic growth, and preserves 
its natural beauty. This vision aligns with state and federal initiatives such as California’s Climate Action Plan for 
Transportation Infrastructure (CAPTI) and the federal Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA). 

Goals: 

1. Maintain and enhance the safety and reliability of roads and bridges. 

2. Expand multimodal transportation options to promote sustainability. 

3. Support tourism and recreation while preserving natural resources. 

4. Reduce greenhouse gas emissions through investment in zero-emission vehicles (ZEVs) and active 
transportation. 

5. Strengthen resilience to climate impacts, such as wildfires and extreme weather. 

Legislative initiatives like California’s Senate Bill 1 (SB 1) provide funding for transportation maintenance and 
improvements, which are vital for addressing the county’s infrastructure challenges. Between 2021 and 2024, Sierra 
County has received over $15 million in SB 1 allocations for road maintenance and active transportation projects. 

0.3. OVERVIEW OF ACTION ELEMENT 

The Action Element identifies over 120 transportation projects, categorized by mode: roadways, bridges, public transit, 
bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure, aviation, and freight movement. Notable projects include: 

• Roadway Improvements: Reconstruction of portions of State Route 49 to address safety concerns and enhance 
connectivity. This includes paving upgrades, signage improvements, and measures to mitigate winter weather 
impacts. 

• Active Transportation: Expansion of bicycle trails near Downieville, supporting both local mobility and tourism. 
These trails will integrate with existing mountain biking infrastructure to create safer and more accessible routes 
for cyclists. 

Agenda Packet page 86



2025 Sierra County Regional Transportation Plan 

 

0-3 

 

• Public Transit: Upgrades to Sierra County Transit Services, including zero-emission vehicles to reduce 
environmental impacts. Planned improvements include the introduction of more frequent routes and improved 
accessibility for seniors and individuals with disabilities. 

• Bridge Rehabilitation: Seismic retrofitting of aging structures to ensure safety and reliability. This includes work 
on key bridges along major county routes, addressing structural integrity and flood resilience. 

The Action Element also emphasizes the importance of integrated transportation solutions that connect various 
modes, such as improved transit stops near bike paths and pedestrian-friendly zones in community hubs. Figures ____ 
provide a comprehensive breakdown of project needs and funding allocations by mode, highlighting the county's 
commitment to creating a cohesive transportation network. 

Figure 0-1: Percentage of Projects by Mode 

Mode Percentage of Projects 

Roadways 40% 

Bridges 25% 

Public Transit 15% 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Infrastructure 10% 

Aviation 5% 

Freight Movement 5% 
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Figure 0-2: Percentage of Funding Needs by Mode 

Mode Percentage of Funding Needs 

Roadways 50% 

Bridges 30% 

Public Transit 10% 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Infrastructure 5% 

Aviation 3% 

Freight Movement 2% 

 

0.4. OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL ELEMENT 

The Financial Element evaluates the anticipated revenue and funding gaps for transportation needs in Sierra County. 
The county’s short-term funding needs exceed $50 million, while long-term needs are projected to surpass $200 
million. These financial requirements underscore the importance of leveraging diverse funding sources to address 
immediate and strategic transportation priorities. 

Funding sources include: 

• State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP): $10 million allocated over five years, primarily targeting 
infrastructure improvements for state highways and regionally significant roadways. STIP funding is critical for 
addressing Sierra County’s pressing roadway maintenance and rehabilitation needs. 

• Highway User Tax Account (HUTA): Annual revenue of approximately $1.5 million is dedicated to local roadway 
maintenance. This funding supports snow removal, pavement repairs, and other essential services to ensure 
year-round accessibility. 
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• Federal Infrastructure Programs: Competitive grants under the IIJA provide an opportunity for significant 
investment in long-term projects, such as bridge retrofits, zero-emission transit upgrades, and active 
transportation infrastructure. Recent IIJA-funded projects include enhancements to rural transit systems and 
improvements to State Route 49. 

Additional funding mechanisms, such as local sales tax measures and private-public partnerships, are being explored 
to fill the identified gaps. A comprehensive analysis of funded versus unfunded projects will illustrate the transportation 
shortfall across all modes, highlighting areas requiring urgent investment and planning. 

Figure 0-3: Funded vs Unfunded Projects by Mode 

Mode Percentage Funded Percentage Unfunded 

Roadways 60% 40% 

Bridges 70% 30% 

Public Transit 50% 50% 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Infrastructure 30% 70% 

Aviation 20% 80% 

Freight Movement 15% 85% 
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1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1. ABOUT THE SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

The Sierra County Transportation Commission (SCTC) serves as the Regional Transportation Planning Agency (RTPA) 
for Sierra County, ensuring the alignment of local, state, and federal transportation objectives. The SCTC’s mission 
includes facilitating sustainable, safe, and equitable transportation solutions that enhance mobility for all residents and 
visitors. As a predominantly rural county with dispersed population centers like Loyalton, Downieville, Sierra City, and 
Sierraville, SCTC addresses unique challenges, including limited transit access, aging infrastructure, and diverse 
stakeholder interests. 

Key SCTC functions include: 

• Planning: Developing and updating the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) to guide long-term investments. 

• Funding Administration: Managing and allocating federal and state transportation funds, such as those provided 
through the State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) and Transportation Development Act (TDA). 

• Stakeholder Engagement: Collaborating with local governments, tribal entities, and state agencies to achieve 
shared transportation goals. 

• Technical Advisory Committees 

SCTC works with two key advisory bodies to enhance the planning process: 

• Technical Advisory Committee (TAC): Comprised of transportation professionals from local, regional, and state 
agencies, the TAC provides technical guidance on transportation priorities. 

• Social Services Transportation Advisory Council (SSTAC): Focused on the needs of seniors, people with disabilities, 
and low-income populations, the SSTAC ensures equity in transit planning. 

1.2. ABOUT THE REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN 

The Sierra County Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) serves as a comprehensive and forward-looking blueprint 
designed to address the multifaceted transportation challenges and opportunities unique to the region. It provides a 

Agenda Packet page 90



2025 Sierra County Regional Transportation Plan 

 

1-7 

 

structured framework for identifying and addressing current and future transportation needs, establishing investment 
priorities that balance practicality with long-term benefits, and ensuring compliance with both state and federal 
mandates. 

Key Functions of the Sierra County RTP: 

• Identifying Regional Transportation Needs: The RTP systematically evaluates existing transportation 
infrastructure, including state highways, local roads, and public transit systems. It considers demographic shifts, 
economic trends, and community feedback to pinpoint critical gaps in mobility, access, and safety. This ensures 
that the transportation system evolves to meet the needs of residents, businesses, and visitors. 

• Setting Investment Priorities: Recognizing that financial resources are finite, the RTP establishes a hierarchy of 
projects based on criteria such as urgency, community impact, environmental sustainability, and cost-
effectiveness. High-priority investments may include repairing deteriorating bridges, enhancing transit access 
for underserved populations, and developing active transportation networks like bike paths and pedestrian-
friendly zones. 

• Alignment with Statewide and Federal Requirements: The RTP integrates state and federal policies, such as 
California’s greenhouse gas (GHG) reduction targets and federal mandates under the Clean Air Act. This ensures 
that regional planning contributes to broader objectives like climate adaptation, equity in transportation access, 
and improved air quality. 

Addressing Critical Regional Challenges: 

• Maintaining Rural Connectivity: Sierra County’s vast geography and dispersed population make transportation 
lifelines essential for connecting communities. The RTP prioritizes maintaining and enhancing critical routes like 
State Routes 49 and 89, which facilitate not only daily commutes but also emergency evacuation during wildfires 
or severe weather events. 

• Fostering Sustainable Development: By integrating transportation planning with land use policies, the RTP 
supports the creation of compact, walkable communities that reduce reliance on personal vehicles. This includes 
promoting transit-oriented development and supporting projects that enhance access to local schools, medical 
facilities, and employment centers without compromising the county’s natural beauty. 
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• Preparing for Climate Resilience: The RTP adopts a proactive approach to climate adaptation, addressing 
vulnerabilities such as flooding, landslides, and wildfire risks. Investments in infrastructure resilience—such as 
improved drainage systems, wildfire-resistant designs, and redundant transportation routes—are essential for 
safeguarding mobility and community wellbeing in the face of increasingly frequent extreme weather events. 

Vision for the Future: 

The Sierra County RTP is more than a planning document; it is a tool for fostering economic growth, ensuring social 
equity, and protecting the environment. By strategically aligning short-term actions with long-term goals, the RTP 
creates a pathway to a transportation network that is not only functional but also adaptable, sustainable, and reflective 
of the unique needs of Sierra County’s communities and ecosystems. This holistic approach ensures that transportation 
investments yield maximum benefits for generations to come. 

1.2.1. Purpose of the Plan 

The purpose of this RTP is to: 

• Establish a 20-year vision for transportation investments that support mobility, safety, and environmental 
sustainability. 

• Provide a framework for prioritizing transportation projects based on need, impact, and cost-effectiveness. 

• Comply with legal mandates, including California Government Code §65080, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, and 
the Clean Air Act. 

1.2.2. Regional Transportation Plan Elements 

The Sierra County RTP is organized into five key chapters: 

1. Executive Summary & Introduction: Outlines the plan’s purpose, scope, and process. 

2. Existing Conditions: Assesses current demographic, economic, and transportation trends. 

3. Policy Element: Defines goals, objectives, and performance measures to guide investment decisions. 

4. Action Element: Lists prioritized transportation projects and programs. 
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5. Financial Element: Details anticipated revenues, funding sources, and fiscal constraints. 

1.3. RTP PLANNING PROCESS 

1.3.1. Federal Planning Requirements 

Federal laws establish a robust framework for developing Regional Transportation Plans (RTPs), ensuring that these 
plans not only meet local and regional needs but also align with national priorities and objectives. These requirements 
emphasize creating a transportation system that is safe, sustainable, and accessible for all users while preserving critical 
infrastructure for future generations. By integrating these federal mandates, RTPs play a crucial role in achieving 
broader goals related to public safety, environmental sustainability, and social equity. 

The Sierra County RTP reflects these federal objectives, addressing key focus areas critical to the county’s unique 
challenges and opportunities: 

• Safety: Prioritizing infrastructure and policies that protect all users—drivers, cyclists, pedestrians, and transit 
riders—by reducing accidents and improving system reliability. 

• Environmental Stewardship: Actively mitigating greenhouse gas emissions through strategies such as 
promoting active transportation and zero-emission vehicles, while preparing infrastructure to withstand 
climate-related impacts like extreme weather and wildfires. 

• Equity: Bridging gaps in transportation access for underserved populations, ensuring that all residents, 
regardless of location, income, or mobility, can connect to essential services and opportunities. 

• Infrastructure Preservation: Allocating resources to maintain and enhance existing transportation assets, 
ensuring their longevity and functionality to meet current and future demands. 

Through these guiding principles, the Sierra County RTP aligns regional priorities with federal standards, contributing 
to a safer, greener, and more equitable transportation network. 

1.3.2. Coordination with Other Plans and Studies 
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The Sierra County RTP aligns with several key planning documents, ensuring a coordinated and strategic approach to 
transportation development that integrates local, regional, and state priorities. These foundational documents provide 
a comprehensive framework to guide transportation investments and policy decisions: 

• Sierra County General Plan (2012): This foundational document outlines the county’s overarching goals and 
policies related to land use, housing, economic development, and transportation. It provides the long-term vision 
for sustainable growth and ensures that transportation planning supports compatible land use patterns and 
community needs. 

• Caltrans District 3 Highway Management Plan: This document guides the maintenance, improvement, and 
operational strategies for state highways within the region. By coordinating with this plan, the RTP ensures that 
Sierra County’s transportation priorities align with Caltrans’ efforts to preserve and enhance critical highway 
infrastructure. 

• Neighboring Regional Transportation Plans: These plans from adjacent counties support cross-border 
connectivity and collaboration. Aligning with neighboring RTPs ensures that Sierra County’s transportation 
network integrates seamlessly with regional systems, facilitating economic activity, tourism, and mobility across 
jurisdictional boundaries. 

Together, these documents create a cohesive framework that strengthens the RTP’s focus on sustainability, safety, 
equity, and regional collaboration. 

1.3.3. Climate Change and Environmental Quality 

Addressing climate change and ensuring environmental quality are central priorities for the Sierra County RTP. With 
transportation contributing 39% of California’s greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (CARB, 2023), the RTP plays a critical 
role in advancing strategies to reduce emissions, promote sustainability, and enhance resilience to climate impacts. 
These efforts align with state and federal goals for reducing GHG emissions while preparing infrastructure to withstand 
increasingly severe weather events. 

Key strategies include: 
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• Expanding Zero-Emission Vehicle (ZEV) Infrastructure: Increasing the availability of EV charging stations and 
other ZEV facilities to encourage the adoption of cleaner vehicle technologies. This supports both regional air 
quality improvements and California’s broader GHG reduction targets. 

• Promoting Active Transportation Options: Developing and enhancing infrastructure for walking and biking, 
such as safe routes to schools, multi-use trails, and bike lanes. These initiatives aim to reduce reliance on motor 
vehicles while promoting healthier, more sustainable mobility choices. 

• Enhancing Resilience to Extreme Weather: Strengthening the transportation network to withstand climate-
related challenges like flooding, wildfires, and severe winter storms. Projects include upgrading drainage 
systems, implementing erosion control measures, and maintaining critical routes for emergency access. 

These integrated strategies ensure that Sierra County’s transportation network contributes to climate mitigation, 
supports a sustainable future, and remains reliable under changing environmental conditions. 

1.3.4. Transportation/Land Use Integration  

The integration of transportation planning with land use policies is a cornerstone of the Sierra County RTP, fostering 
the development of compact, walkable, and connected communities. By aligning transportation investments with 
land use goals, the RTP promotes sustainable growth patterns that reduce reliance on personal vehicles, enhance 
accessibility, and preserve the county’s unique rural character. 

Key projects supporting this integration include: 

• Expanded Sidewalks and Bike Lanes in Loyalton: Enhancing pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure within 
Sierra County’s only incorporated city improves safety, supports active transportation, and connects residents to 
local destinations such as schools, parks, and commercial centers. 

• Connectivity Improvements Between Sierraville, Downieville, and Loyalton to Recreational Areas within 
and around Sierra County: Strengthening links to key recreation destinations supports tourism, improves 
mobility for residents, and aligns with the county’s goal to balance development with its natural environment. 
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This integrated approach not only encourages sustainable transportation behaviors but also supports economic vitality 
and community well-being by fostering vibrant, accessible neighborhoods where residents and visitors can live, work, 
and play without over-reliance on vehicles. 

1.3.5. Participation and Coordination  

Robust community engagement was a cornerstone of the RTP development process, ensuring that diverse 
perspectives shaped its priorities and strategies. A variety of outreach methods, including public workshops, tribal 
consultations, and community surveys, provided opportunities for residents, stakeholders, and tribal representatives 
to contribute meaningful input. This collaborative approach ensured that the RTP aligns with local values and 
addresses the region's unique transportation challenges. 

1.3.6. Coordination with Native American Tribal Governments 

The Sierra County RTP prioritizes collaboration with Native American Tribal Governments to ensure transportation 
planning respects and incorporates tribal needs and cultural heritage. Through a series of consultations, tribal 
representatives provided essential insights on mobility challenges, culturally significant locations, and the unique 
needs of their communities, which informed the RTP’s overarching strategies. 

Key Areas of Collaboration: 

1. Respect for Culturally Significant Sites: 

o Planning processes considered the location and significance of sacred and historical tribal lands, ensuring 
transportation decisions align with preserving these areas. Special attention was given to avoiding 
disruption to sites of cultural importance while balancing transportation improvements. 

2. Ongoing Tribal Engagement: 

o The RTP framework ensures continuous consultation with tribal governments during project 
development and implementation, allowing for adaptive planning that incorporates evolving needs and 
feedback. 

o Collaborative discussions emphasized not just immediate transportation issues but also long-term goals 
for tribal mobility and cultural preservation. 
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This approach ensures the RTP respects and integrates tribal perspectives, fostering a transportation network that 
reflects the shared goals of access, sustainability, and cultural preservation. 

Table 1.1: Native American Tribal Contacts 

Tribe/Organization Contact Information Role/Engagement 

Maidu Cultural and Development 
Group 

Address/Email/Phone Consultation on cultural preservation and 
transportation impacts. 

Washoe Tribe of Nevada Address/Email/Phone Input on historical lands and transportation access. 

Greenville Rancheria of Maidu 
Indians 

Address/Email/Phone Engagement on transportation projects affecting 
tribal resources. 

Tsi-Akim Maidu Corporation Address/Email/Phone Advisory role on tribal and cultural transportation 
priorities. 

 

Figure 1-1: Tribal Territories in Sierra County 

1.3.7. Coordination with the California State Wildlife Action Plan 

The Sierra County RTP aligns closely with the California State Wildlife Action Plan (SWAP) to ensure that transportation 
planning supports regional conservation goals and minimizes environmental impacts. By integrating these priorities, 
the RTP balances infrastructure development with the protection of sensitive ecosystems and species. 

Key Conservation Integration Strategies: 

1. Protection of Sensitive Habitats and Species: 

o The RTP incorporates measures to safeguard critical habitats and natural ecosystems, aligning with state 
conservation goals. By integrating these considerations into transportation planning, the RTP ensures 
that infrastructure development supports environmental stewardship and minimizes impacts on 
sensitive areas. 
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2. Minimizing Ecological Impacts: 

o Route planning emphasizes the avoidance of environmentally sensitive areas, such as wetlands, 
migration corridors, and biodiversity hotspots. Where avoidance is not feasible, strategies include habitat 
restoration and mitigation to minimize disruptions. 

3. Wildlife-Friendly Infrastructure: 

o Consideration is given to designing wildlife crossings, such as overpasses or underpasses, in areas where 
transportation corridors intersect migration routes or known wildlife activity zones. These features reduce 
vehicle-wildlife collisions and maintain ecosystem connectivity. 

4. Collaboration with Conservation Agencies: 

o The RTP process includes consultations with resource agencies, such as the California Department of Fish 
and Wildlife and the U.S. Forest Service, to ensure transportation improvements align with broader 
conservation goals. Coordination allows for the integration of resource management plans and 
environmental assessments. 

This approach ensures that transportation development complements ecological stewardship, creating a resilient and 
environmentally sustainable transportation network that aligns with California’s conservation vision. 
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2 EXISTING CONDITIONS 

This chapter provides a comprehensive examination of the existing conditions influencing the development and 
implementation of the 2025 Sierra County Regional Transportation Plan (RTP). It builds on the baseline established in 
the previous RTP and incorporates more recent data, trends, and studies to offer a holistic view of Sierra County’s 
transportation setting. 

The existing conditions analysis includes demographic profiles, land use patterns, current transportation infrastructure, 
mobility services, environmental constraints, economic considerations, public health factors, safety trends, and 
technological capacities. Collectively, these insights form the foundation upon which subsequent planning and policy 
recommendations will rest, ensuring that the 2025 RTP addresses local needs while aligning with regional, state, and 
federal transportation goals. 

2.1. SETTING 

Sierra County is located in Northern California, nestled in the heart of the northern Sierra Nevada Mountain range. 
Encompassing approximately 953 square miles, the county is characterized by a complex geography of steep mountain 
slopes, densely forested hills, alpine meadows, and the expansive Sierra Valley, the largest alpine valley in North 
America. More than two-thirds of Sierra County’s land area (about 68%, per U.S. Forest Service [USFS], 2023) is publicly 
owned and managed by federal agencies, primarily the Tahoe National Forest and the Humboldt-Toiyabe National 
Forest. This predominance of public lands influences transportation planning, as significant roadway mileage traverses 
remote areas maintained to serve both local communities and recreational visitors. 

Topographic challenges define the county’s transportation environment. Elevations range roughly from 1,800 feet in 
the Sierra Valley near Loyalton to over 8,600 feet at the county’s higher peaks. Snow accumulation, rockslides, and 
variable geological conditions require careful roadway design and consistent maintenance. Travel corridors, primarily 
aligned along river valleys and plateaus, reflect historical settlement patterns and remain critical for connecting 
sparsely distributed communities. 
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Figure 2-1: Location Map 
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2.2. POPULATION AND DEMOGRAPHICS 

2.2.1. Historical Population 

Sierra County’s population remains one of the smallest in California, accounting for less than 0.01% of the state’s total 
population. As of January 2024, the California Department of Finance (DOF) estimates the county’s population at 
approximately 3,150 individuals, slightly down from 3,236 recorded in the 2020 U.S. Census. This represents a decline 
of about 2.7% over four years. Since the early 2000s, population change in Sierra County has been minimal, often 
fluctuating around 3,000–3,500 residents. Outmigration of younger adults seeking employment and educational 
opportunities elsewhere, coupled with lower birth rates, has contributed to a relatively stable or slightly declining 
population base. 

Figure 2-2. Historical and Forecasted Population 

Year Population Percentage Change 

2000 3,555 - 

2010 3,240 -8.9% 

2020 3,236 -0.1% 

2024 3,150 (est.) -2.7% 

2030 (projected) 3,008 -4.5% 

2040 (projected) 2,993 -0.5% 

Source: California Department of Finance (DOF) Population Estimates, U.S. Census Bureau (Decennial Census 2000, 
2010, 2020) 
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2.3. DEMOGRAPHICS 

2.3.1. Age of Population 

The median age in Sierra County is approximately 54.3 years (U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 2017–2021), significantly higher 
than the California median of 37.5. Over 30% of the population is 65 or older, compared to around 15% statewide. This 
aging demographic points to mobility challenges such as the need for medical transportation, senior-friendly 
transportation services, and a focus on accessible pedestrian infrastructure in town centers. Conversely, the share of 
residents under 18 is around 15%, lower than the state average, suggesting limited school-related transportation 
demand but underscoring the importance of recruiting and retaining young families to maintain community vitality. 

Table 2.1: Existing Age of Population 

Age Group Sierra County (%) California (%) 

Under 18 Years 15% 22% 

18–64 Years 55% 63% 

65 Years and Older 30% 15% 

Median Age 54.3 Years 37.5 Years 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) 2017–2021 

2.3.2. Demographics 

The county’s population is predominantly white (approximately 87%), followed by Hispanic or Latino (8%), with the 
remaining 5% composed of Native American, Asian, African American, and multiracial individuals (ACS 2017–2021). 
While overall diversity is limited, cultural activities, small businesses, and seasonal workers of various backgrounds 
introduce a level of multicultural influence on community life and transportation needs. 
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Table 2.2: Race and Ethnicity in Sierra County  

Race/Ethnicity Percentage of Population 

White 87% 

Hispanic or Latino 8% 

Native American 2% 

Asian 1% 

African American <1% 

Multiracial/Other 2% 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) 2017–2021 

2.4. SOCIOECONOMIC CONDITIONS 

2.4.1. Income and Poverty 

Sierra County's socioeconomic conditions present a nuanced picture of rural living, with challenges linked to limited 
economic opportunities, lower-than-average income levels, and persistent poverty rates. Understanding these factors 
is critical to shaping transportation policies that address equity, accessibility, and economic mobility. 

The median household income in Sierra County is approximately $61,108 (U.S. Census Bureau, American Community 
Survey [ACS] 2017–2021), substantially lower than the statewide median of nearly $84,900. This income disparity 
highlights the financial challenges faced by many Sierra County residents. Over 20% of households in the county are 
classified as low-income by California Housing Partnership standards, emphasizing the need for affordable 
transportation options to access jobs, education, and essential services2020 Sierra County RTPSierra County existing …. 

• Figure 2.3 provides a visual representation of the spatial distribution of median household incomes across the 
county, illustrating disparities between communities like Loyalton and more rural, unincorporated areas. 
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Table 2.3: Median Household Income 

Location Median Household Income 

Sierra County $61,108 

California (Statewide) $84,900 

United States $74,580 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) 2018–2022 

Approximately 12.2% of Sierra County residents lived below the federal poverty threshold between 2017 and 2021 (ACS), 
compared to 15.1% statewide. This percentage reflects a mix of economic stagnation in the region and limited high-
wage employment opportunities. Children and seniors are disproportionately affected; nearly 20% of children and 15% 
of seniors live in poverty. Transportation barriers compound these challenges, limiting access to education, healthcare, 
and employment. 

Table 2.4: Poverty Level 

Population Group Sierra County Poverty Rate (%) California Poverty Rate (%) 

Overall Population 12.2% 15.1% 

Children (Under 18 Years) 20% 18.5% 

Seniors (65 Years and Older) 15% 10.1% 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) 2017–2021 

2.4.2. Employment 

Historically, Sierra County’s economy centered on resource extraction—mining, logging, and milling were once the 
primary employers. As of the early 2020s, these sectors have significantly contracted due to resource depletion, 
stricter environmental regulations, and a shift toward conservation. Current key employers include county 
government, U.S. Forest Service offices, the local school district, small-scale ranching, and seasonal 
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tourism/hospitality services. The Downieville-Loyalton corridor experiences increased visitation during summer, with 
mountain biking, fishing, hunting, and river rafting drawing thousands of visitors. According to the Sierra County 
Economic Development Committee (2023), tourism-related spending in summer months can boost local businesses 
by up to 20-30%. 

Table 2.5: Major Employers 

Employer Location Industry 

Sierra County Government Downieville County Government Offices 

U.S. Forest Service Various Federal Government 

Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District Loyalton Education 

Eastern Plumas Health Care Loyalton Healthcare Services 

Herrington's Sierra Pines Resort Sierra City Hospitality and Tourism 

Sardine Lake Resort Sierra City Hospitality and Tourism 

Golden West Dining Loyalton Restaurant 

Leonard's Market Loyalton Retail Grocery 

Western Sierra Medical Clinic Downieville Healthcare Services 

Toddler Towers Child Care Center Loyalton Child Care Services 

Source: California Employment Development Department 

Unemployment in Sierra County was approximately 5–6% in 2023, higher than the California average of 4.1% during the 
same period. Employment opportunities within the county are scarce, forcing 85% of workers to commute to jobs in 
neighboring areas, including Nevada and Plumas counties. The reliance on long commutes exacerbates transportation 
costs for low-income households 
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Employment opportunities remain limited, and unemployment rates, while not dramatically higher than the state 
average, are sensitive to seasonal fluctuations. The Employment Development Department (EDD, 2023) estimates an 
unemployment rate hovering around 5-6%, influenced by weather-dependent construction, forestry, and tourism 
industries. 

Table 2.6: Employment Characteristics  

Employment Characteristic Sierra County California 

Unemployment Rate (2023) 5–6% 4.1% 

Primary Employment Sectors Public Sector, Small-Scale Agriculture, 
Seasonal Tourism 

Technology, Healthcare, 
Services 

Percentage of Workers Commuting 
Outside County 

85% N/A 

Major Destinations for Commuters Nevada County, Plumas County N/A 

Seasonal Employment Sensitivity High Moderate 

Average Hourly Wage for Top Industries $15–$20 $25–$30 

Sources: U.S. Census Bureau, California Employment Development Department (EDD) 2023, Sierra County Economic 
Development Committee 

2.4.3. Educational Attainment 

Educational attainment in Sierra County reflects both strengths and challenges tied to its rural character. 
Approximately 92% of residents aged 25 and older have at least a high school diploma, slightly exceeding the state 
average. However, only 23% have attained a bachelor’s degree or higher, compared to 36% statewide. This disparity 
highlights the limited access to higher education opportunities in the region. The absence of colleges or universities 
within the county forces residents to travel to neighboring areas like Truckee or Reno for postsecondary education, 
creating financial and logistical barriers, especially for low-income families. Limited broadband access in rural parts of 
the county further restricts online learning, a critical tool for education in remote areas. Additionally, for younger 
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residents, insufficient school transportation options in remote communities can hinder attendance and participation 
in extracurricular activities. 

Transportation infrastructure plays a critical role in addressing educational attainment disparities in Sierra County. 
Enhanced transit connections to nearby colleges and training centers can reduce barriers to higher education, while 
improving bus routes and active transportation options—such as bike lanes and sidewalks—can support K-12 students 
in accessing schools safely and reliably. Expanding Safe Routes to School initiatives and addressing broadband 
limitations are equally important to fostering equitable access to education. By investing in these transportation 
solutions, Sierra County can empower its residents to achieve higher levels of education, which in turn will support 
workforce development, economic growth, and improved quality of life across the region. 

Table 2.7: Educational Attainment 18 Years and Over 

Educational Attainment Level Percentage of Population Aged 18+ 
Less than High School Diploma 8% 
High School Diploma or Equivalent 35% 
Some College, No Degree 25% 
Associate’s Degree 8% 
Bachelor's Degree 13% 
Graduate or Professional Degree 10% 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS) 2017–2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Packet page 107



2025 Sierra County Regional Transportation Plan 

 

2-24 

 

2.5. DISADVANTAGED COMMUNITIES 

Disadvantaged communities in Sierra County face significant challenges related to income inequality, limited access 
to essential services, and systemic barriers to mobility and economic opportunity. These communities often experience 
compounded difficulties due to a lack of infrastructure, limited transportation options, and geographic isolation. 

Many residents in these areas, classified as disadvantaged due to low household incomes and limited access to 
resources, rely heavily on public transportation to reach jobs, healthcare facilities, and educational institutions. 
However, the county's transit services are limited, with infrequent schedules and long travel times that create obstacles 
for these populations. Expanding transit services, offering subsidized fares, and introducing demand-responsive transit 
options are critical steps to reducing transportation barriers and enhancing access to essential services. 

Beyond transit, disadvantaged communities also lack sufficient pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure. For example, 
many areas have narrow or non-existent sidewalks, unsafe pedestrian crossings, and limited bike paths. Investments 
in active transportation infrastructure, such as bike lanes and pedestrian-friendly pathways, can provide low-cost, 
sustainable mobility options for residents, improving their quality of life and increasing access to opportunities. 

The economic realities of disadvantaged communities in Sierra County exacerbate these challenges. With a median 
household income significantly below the state average, many residents face financial constraints that limit their ability 
to afford private vehicles or frequent travel to neighboring counties for employment or services. Nearly 20% of 
households in Sierra County qualify as low-income, and these communities often experience higher rates of 
unemployment and underemployment. 

Targeted infrastructure projects in these areas, such as improved roadways, enhanced transit stops, and safe 
pedestrian crossings, are vital for addressing systemic inequities. Additionally, creating community-focused programs, 
such as transportation assistance for seniors and individuals with disabilities, can further promote equity and social 
inclusion. 

By prioritizing disadvantaged communities in transportation planning, Sierra County can address long-standing 
disparities and foster economic resilience. These investments will not only improve mobility and access but also 
support the broader goals of the 2025 Sierra County Regional Transportation Plan, promoting a more equitable and 
connected future for all residents. 
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Factors such as low household incomes, limited public transit, and high exposure to natural hazards like wildfires 
exacerbate inequities for vulnerable populations, including seniors, low-income families, and tribal communities. The 
following section explores various tools and metrics that highlight these disparities, such as the Climate and Justice 
Economic Screening Tool, Healthy Places Index, and CalEnviroScreen 4.0, while identifying opportunities to enhance 
equity through targeted infrastructure improvements and expanded transportation options. 

2.5.1. Climate and Justice Economic Screening Tool 

The Climate and Justice Economic Screening Tool (CJEST) identifies areas that face compounded socioeconomic and 
environmental vulnerabilities. In Sierra County, factors such as high wildfire risk, harsh winters, and limited access to 
economic opportunities contribute to its classification as a disadvantaged rural area. For example, 68% of the county's 
land is federally owned, restricting economic development opportunities. Geographic isolation and limited public 
transportation options exacerbate economic and social vulnerabilities for residents, particularly for seniors and low-
income families reliant on these systems (Sierra County Existing Conditions, 2023). 

2.5.2. United States Department of Transportation Equitable Transportation Community Explorer 

The Equitable Transportation Community Explorer highlights disparities in transportation access, which align with 
Sierra County’s rural geography and aging population. Nearly 30% of residents are over age 65, compared to the 
statewide average of 15%, emphasizing the need for medical transportation and senior-friendly infrastructure (Sierra 
RTP, 2020). The dispersed population also struggles with inadequate connectivity between smaller communities, such 
as Sierraville and Calpine, and the central hub of Loyalton, where essential services are concentrated. Expanded 
paratransit and dial-a-ride services would help bridge these gaps. 

2.5.3. Median Household Income 

Sierra County’s median household income is $49,200, significantly below California’s average of $84,900. About 20% of 
households are classified as low-income, creating additional barriers to transportation access. Disadvantaged 
communities are primarily located in rural outposts where infrastructure is limited, such as in Sierra Valley and 
Downieville. To address this disparity, targeted investments in affordable transportation and infrastructure 
improvements are critical to improving equity and mobility for residents. 
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Table 2.8: Disadvantaged Communities – Median Household Income  

Region/Community Median Household Income Percentage of Low-Income Households 

Sierra County Overall $49,200 ~20% 

California (State Average) $84,900 ~14% 

Sierra Valley Below $49,200 (estimated) Higher than county average 

Downieville Below $49,200 (estimated) Higher than county average 

Sources: U.S. Census Bureau ACS (2017–2021); California Housing Partnership, 2023. 

 

Notes: 

• Sierra County’s median income significantly trails the state average, with rural outposts like Sierra Valley and 
Downieville facing pronounced economic challenges. 

• Targeted investments in transportation and infrastructure are critical to addressing equity and mobility gaps for 
disadvantaged communities. 
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Figure 2-3: Median Household Income Map  
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2.5.4. California Communities Environmental Health Screening Tool 4.0 

CalEnviroScreen 4.0 identifies significant environmental health vulnerabilities in Sierra County, such as wildfire 
exposure, aging infrastructure, and historical mining contamination. Regions like Downieville and Sierra City are 
particularly susceptible to wildfires due to dense forests and insufficient evacuation routes. Transportation projects 
aimed at improving wildfire resilience and emergency egress are essential to safeguarding residents and protecting 
natural resources. 

2.5.5. Healthy Places Index 

The Healthy Places Index underscores a need for improvements in public health indicators in Sierra County. The county 
ranks low on healthcare access, transportation connectivity, and active mobility infrastructure. Limited pedestrian and 
bike-friendly pathways in most communities hinder physical activity, while poor connectivity increases reliance on 
personal vehicles. Expanding Safe Routes to School programs and adding multi-use trails can encourage healthier, 
more active lifestyles while addressing equity gaps in transportation. 

Table 2.9: Disadvantaged Communities – Health Places Index 

Indicator Sierra County Statewide Average 

Healthcare Access Low Moderate to High 

Transportation Connectivity Low Moderate 

Active Mobility Infrastructure (Bike/Walk Pathways) Limited Moderate to Extensive 

Physical Activity Levels Below Average Average 

Reliance on Personal Vehicles High Moderate 

Source: California Healthy Places Index (HPI), 2023. 
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Notes: 

• Limited bike and pedestrian infrastructure and poor transportation connectivity contribute to physical inactivity 
and reliance on private vehicles. 

• Expanding Safe Routes to School and developing multi-use trails are key strategies to improve health and 
mobility. 

2.5.6. National School Lunch Program 

Approximately 40% of school-aged children in Sierra County qualify for free or reduced-price lunches, indicating 
widespread economic need. Access to education is further complicated by insufficient transportation infrastructure, 
particularly in rural regions. Enhancing school bus services, pedestrian safety features near schools, and affordable 
transit options will help ensure that children from low-income families can access education safely and equitably. 

Table 2.10: Disadvantaged Communities – Free or Reduced-Price Meal Eligibility 

Indicator Sierra County Statewide Average 

Percentage of Students Eligible for Free or Reduced-Price Meals ~40% ~55% 

Access to School Transportation Services Limited Moderate to High 

Pedestrian Safety Features Near Schools Minimal Moderate 

Source: California Department of Education, 2023. 

 

Notes: 

• Approximately 40% of students in Sierra County qualify for free or reduced-price meals, reflecting economic 
challenges. 

• Limited transportation infrastructure and pedestrian safety features hinder equitable access to education for 
low-income families. 
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• Investments in school bus services, Safe Routes to School initiatives, and affordable transit options are critical for 
addressing these disparities. 

2.5.7. Tribal Communities and Communities Without Data 

Tribal communities, including the Washoe and Maidu, emphasize preserving access to sacred sites and traditional 
lands. However, limited data on transportation needs within tribal areas complicates planning efforts. Inclusive 
consultation processes are essential for identifying and addressing the unique mobility and cultural preservation needs 
of tribal residents. Improved transportation access to tribal areas would enhance both cultural heritage preservation 
and economic opportunities 

2.6. HOUSING 

2.6.1. Housing Characteristics 

Household sizes in Sierra County average about 2.1 persons per household, smaller than the California average of 2.9 
(ACS 2017–2021). Homeownership rates are relatively high (~70%), reflecting a stable but aging homeowner population. 
Median household income is around $49,200, substantially lower than the state median of nearly $84,900. With fewer 
high-wage employment opportunities, residents often commute long distances for work, impacting transportation 
demand and cost-sensitivity to fuel prices. Nearly 20% of households can be considered low-income by state standards 
(California Housing Partnership, 2023), emphasizing the importance of affordable and reliable transportation options 
for basic access to goods, services, and employment. 

Over 80% of the county’s private lands lie within the Sierra Valley and along the Highway 49 corridor. Agricultural land 
(ranching, hay production) and low-density residential development characterize these areas. Existing General Plan 
land use designations and zoning ordinances promote low-density settlement patterns that reflect infrastructural 
limitations—lack of central sewer and water in outlying areas, and steep slopes that preclude more intensive 
development. The dispersed settlement pattern imposes longer travel distances to basic services and discourages 
the cost-effectiveness of installing infrastructure such as fixed-route public transit. 
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Table 2.11: Housing Characteristics 

Characteristic Sierra County California Average 

Average Household Size 2.1 persons/household 2.9 persons/household 

Homeownership Rate ~70% ~55% 

Median Household Income $49,200 $84,900 

Percentage of Low-Income 
Households 

~20% ~14% 

Predominant Land Use Agricultural, Low-Density Mixed-Use, Higher Density 

Infrastructure Constraints Limited central sewer and water systems Generally robust 
infrastructure 

Sources: U.S. Census Bureau ACS (2017–2021); California Housing Partnership, 2023. 

 

Notes: 

• The high homeownership rate reflects a stable but aging population, while the lower household size and income 
highlight the rural character and limited economic opportunities. 

• Dispersed settlement patterns increase transportation demand and reduce infrastructure cost-efficiency. 

 

2.6.2. Home Value 

Housing affordability remains a significant factor in Sierra County, where median home values are substantially lower 
than California’s state average but still present challenges for residents with limited incomes. The median home value 
in Sierra County is approximately $280,000, compared to the state median of $712,800 (California Association of 
Realtors, 2023). This disparity reflects the rural nature of the county and lower demand for housing compared to urban 
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areas. However, for many local residents, the lower home values are offset by lower median household incomes, 
creating a persistent affordability gap. 

The aging housing stock, with many homes built before 1980, may present additional challenges such as energy 
inefficiency and the need for costly maintenance or upgrades. These factors contribute to financial strain for lower-
income households, especially those already burdened by long commutes and limited economic opportunities. 

Efforts to address housing affordability must also consider the dual pressures of maintaining affordable options for 
local residents while accommodating seasonal demand driven by tourism. The influx of vacation home buyers and 
short-term rentals, particularly in areas like Downieville and Sierra City, can inflate housing prices, further limiting 
availability for full-time residents. Strategic housing policies that promote energy-efficient upgrades and support 
affordable housing developments in key communities could alleviate these challenges while supporting a sustainable, 
balanced housing market. 

Table 2.12: Median Home Value  

Metric Sierra County CA State Avg. 

Median Home Value $280,000 $712,800 

Housing Stock (Pre-1980 
Homes) 

Significant Percentage Varies 

Affordability Gap High due to lower incomes Moderate to 
High 

Seasonal Demand Impact Significant in tourism-driven areas like Downieville and Sierra 
City 

Moderate 
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2.7. TRANSPORTATION 

2.7.1. Vehicle Ownership 

Given the rural environment and limited transit services, vehicle ownership is comparatively high. Most households 
have one or two personal vehicles. According to the California Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) vehicle 
registration data (2023), there are about 2,100 passenger vehicles registered in the county, resulting in a vehicle-to-
population ratio of roughly 0.67 vehicles per capita. While high relative to urban areas, the older average age of these 
vehicles can indicate greater maintenance challenges and potentially higher emissions per vehicle. 

Table 2.13: Vehicle Ownership for Occupied Housing Units  

Number of Vehicles per Household Percentage of Households 

0 Vehicles <5% 

1 Vehicle ~40% 

2 Vehicles ~45% 

3 or More Vehicles ~10% 

Source: California Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV), 2023. 

 

Notes: 

• Total registered passenger vehicles: ~2,100 (DMV, 2023). 

• Vehicle-to-population ratio: ~0.67 vehicles per capita, reflecting rural reliance on personal vehicles. 

• Older vehicles may present maintenance challenges and higher emissions. 
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2.7.2. Mode Share 

Transportation in Sierra County is dominated by private vehicle use, a reflection of the county's rural character and 
limited public transit options. Over 85% of residents commute using single-occupancy vehicles, a higher proportion 
than the state average of 72% (U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 2021). Carpooling accounts for approximately 9% of commuting 
trips, while active transportation modes such as walking and biking represent less than 2% of trips. The share of 
residents using public transit is negligible, largely due to the absence of fixed-route services and the sparse population 
distribution. 

While the high reliance on private vehicles is expected in a rural county with limited transit infrastructure, the lack of 
alternative transportation options poses challenges for environmental sustainability and equity. Vulnerable 
populations, including seniors, low-income households, and individuals without access to a vehicle, face significant 
barriers to mobility. 

Efforts to diversify the mode share include demand-responsive transit services, conceptual plans for multi-use paths, 
and Safe Routes to School initiatives that encourage walking and biking for shorter trips. Investments in active 
transportation infrastructure and improved access to shared mobility options, such as vanpools or ride-sharing services, 
could reduce reliance on single-occupancy vehicles and support state goals for reducing vehicle miles traveled (VMT). 
These strategies align with California's shift to VMT as a CEQA metric, emphasizing the need to promote sustainable 
transportation alternatives in both rural and urban contexts. 

2.7.3. Commuting Patterns 

Sierra County’s commuting patterns are shaped by its rural character and limited local employment opportunities. 
Approximately 85% of residents commute outside the county for work, with key destinations including Nevada County, 
Plumas County, and Reno, Nevada (California Employment Development Department, 2023). The median one-way 
commute time is roughly 30 minutes, reflecting the geographic separation between residential areas and employment 
hubs. This reliance on inter-county commuting contributes significantly to vehicle miles traveled (VMT) and places a 
financial and environmental burden on residents. 

Commuting patterns also highlight disparities in mobility. Workers in remote areas, such as Sierra City and Alleghany, 
face longer travel times and fewer transportation options compared to those living in Loyalton, the county’s largest 
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community. Limited transit services exacerbate this issue, leaving most residents dependent on personal vehicles. For 
low-income households, the cost of fuel and vehicle maintenance can pose significant challenges. 

Efforts to address these commuting challenges include promoting telecommuting opportunities, expanding 
carpooling networks, and exploring vanpool services tailored to long-distance commuters. Additionally, infrastructure 
investments that improve road conditions on key commuter routes, such as State Routes 49 and 89, are critical for 
ensuring safe and efficient travel. These strategies align with regional and state goals to reduce VMT and greenhouse 
gas emissions while improving access to economic opportunities. 

Table 2.14: Commuting Patterns  

Mode Percentage of Commuters 

Single-Occupancy Vehicles 85% 

Carpooling 9% 

Active Transportation (Walking/Biking) <2% 

Public Transit Negligible 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (ACS), 2021. 

 

Notes: 

• Data highlights Sierra County's high reliance on single-occupancy vehicles, reflecting its rural nature and limited 
public transit infrastructure. 

• Active transportation is minimal due to geographic challenges and sparse pedestrian/bicycle infrastructure. 

• Public transit share is negligible, primarily because of the absence of fixed-route services and the county's low 
population density. 
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2.7.4. Air Quality 

Air quality in Sierra County is generally good due to low traffic volumes, a dispersed population, and a high percentage 
of forested and undeveloped land. However, periodic wildfire events, both within and near the County, can temporarily 
reduce air quality and increase health risks due to smoke and particulate matter. While the region does not experience 
the persistent smog common in urban areas, vehicle emissions, wood heating, and dust from unpaved roads can 
contribute to localized air quality issues. 

The RTP acknowledges the importance of preserving healthy air and reducing transportation-related emissions. 
Strategies include promoting zero-emission transit options, encouraging carpooling, supporting active transportation, 
and ensuring that future roadway and maintenance projects align with state and federal air quality standards. 

2.8. TRANSPORTATION NETWORK INVENTORY 

The county’s transportation network is primarily composed of a two-tier system: state highways and local roads. 

State Highways 
Sierra County’s connectivity relies heavily on State Route (SR) 49 and SR 89. 

• State Route 49: A two-lane rural highway providing east-west connectivity, linking Downieville and western 
Sierra County to neighboring Nevada and Plumas Counties, and eventually connecting travelers to Nevada 
City and Highway 20 to the south. 

• State Route 89: Running north-south through the eastern part of the county, SR 89 connects Sierraville and 
the Sierra Valley to I-80, Truckee, and Lake Tahoe. 
These highways also serve as critical lifelines for emergency response and evacuation during wildfires and 
other natural disasters. 

Local Roads and County Routes 
The county maintains approximately 350 centerline miles of local roads (Sierra County Department of Transportation, 
2023). Most are two-lane paved or sometimes narrow paved roads with limited shoulders. Gravel and dirt roads, 
particularly those leading to remote recreation sites or USFS lands, add another 100 miles of less formalized routes. 
Many local roads are subject to weight restrictions in spring due to thawing and to mitigate pavement damage. 
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Figure 2-4: Caltrans Functional Classification Designations  
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Bridges and Structures 
Sierra County’s mountainous terrain necessitates numerous small bridges and culverts, with about 35 publicly 
maintained bridges (Caltrans Bridge Inventory, 2023). Some structures date back to the mid-20th century and require 
ongoing maintenance, seismic retrofitting, and scour analysis to remain safe and functional. 

Public Transit Services 
Public transit in Sierra County is limited due to low population density and dispersed demand. Sierra County Transit 
Services (SCTS) provides demand-response (dial-a-ride) service and a limited scheduled route serving Loyalton, 
Sierraville, and Downieville. Daily ridership averages fewer than 10 trips (Sierra County Transit Annual Report, FY 2022-
23), though it increases slightly on market or medical appointment days. Service is oriented primarily toward seniors, 
individuals with disabilities, and those without private vehicles. Trip reservations, made 24 hours in advance, reflect 
the challenges of providing cost-effective on-demand transit in a large, sparsely populated area. 

Interregional Connections 
Although no passenger rail service exists within Sierra County, regional bus connections and access to rail (e.g., 
Amtrak in Truckee or Colfax) or air travel (Reno-Tahoe International Airport) lie outside county boundaries. 
Interregional freight and passenger movements rely heavily on highway corridors, underlining the importance of 
keeping SR 49 and SR 89 operational in all seasons. 

Active Transportation Infrastructure 
Sierra County's active transportation infrastructure faces notable challenges due to its rural nature and limited 
funding. Pedestrian facilities are primarily confined to sidewalks in main communities like Loyalton, Downieville, and 
Sierraville, while many outlying roads lack designated pedestrian spaces, with shoulders varying in width and quality. 
Bicycle infrastructure is minimal, with few striped bike lanes. Despite this, the county is a renowned destination for 
mountain biking, particularly in the Downieville region, which attracts thousands of enthusiasts annually to its 
extensive off-road trail systems maintained by the U.S. Forest Service and local organizations such as the Sierra 
Buttes Trail Stewardship. 

Efforts to enhance active transportation are underway, reflecting a growing recognition of the health, economic, and 
environmental benefits of non-motorized travel. Local Safe Routes to School initiatives aim to improve safety and 
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accessibility for children walking or biking to school. Additionally, conceptual plans for multi-use paths in Loyalton 
indicate a commitment to expanding infrastructure that supports walking and cycling. However, securing adequate 
funding and ensuring maintenance capacity remain significant challenges. The California Transportation 
Commission has allocated substantial funds statewide to improve transportation infrastructure, including active 
transportation projects, through programs like the Active Transportation Program (ATP). For instance, the 2025 ATP 
includes staff recommendations for funding projects in small urban and rural areas, which could benefit counties like 
Sierra. Leveraging such funding opportunities is essential for Sierra County to develop and maintain active 
transportation infrastructure that meets the needs of its residents and visitors. 

Aviation Facilities 
The Sierraville-Dearwater Airport, a small general aviation field, services private pilots, emergency medical flights, and 
occasional charter operations. With fewer than 500 operations per year (FAA Form 5010, 2022), it plays a niche role in 
regional emergency preparedness and can be important for delivering critical supplies during natural disasters when 
roads may be compromised. 
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Figure 2-5: Aviation Facilities in and around Sierra County  
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Goods and Freight Movement 
Freight traffic is minimal but essential for local commerce. Timber, agricultural products (hay, livestock feed), and 
basic commodities constitute the bulk of truck freight. SR 49 and SR 89 serve as key routes for light to medium-duty 
trucks transporting goods in and out of the region. Heavier truck traffic is limited by roadway geometry, weight 
restrictions, and seasonal closures. According to Caltrans freight data (2023), truck volumes typically account for less 
than 10% of AADT on these corridors. Challenges include ensuring year-round passability and maintaining pavement 
conditions that support safe truck operation. 

2.9. TRAFFIC CONDITIONS AND VOLUMES 

Traffic Volumes and Seasonal Variation 
Average Annual Daily Traffic (AADT) is low, generally under 3,000 vehicles on state highways and even lower on local 
roads. For instance, SR 49 near Downieville recorded an AADT of about 2,500 in 2023 (Caltrans Traffic Census). Peak 
traffic occurs during summer weekends, when recreational visitors significantly increase volumes, sometimes 
exceeding 4,000 vehicles per day. Winter volumes drop considerably, often below 1,500 vehicles per day in some 
segments, due to hazardous driving conditions and reduced tourist activity. 

Road Segment Average Annual Daily Traffic 
(AADT) 

Peak Summer Weekend 
Traffic 

Winter Traffic (Low 
Season) 

SR 49 near Downieville ~2,500 ~4,000 ~1,500 

Local Roads (County 
Average) 

<2,000 ~3,000 <1,000 

Major Recreation 
Corridors 

~3,000 ~5,000 ~2,000 

 

Source: Caltrans Traffic Census, 2023. 
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Notes: 

• Peak Traffic Impact: Summer weekends see a significant increase in traffic due to recreational tourism (e.g., 
mountain biking, hiking). 

• Winter Decline: Traffic volumes drop during winter months, with hazardous conditions such as snow and ice 
reducing road usage. 

• AADT Variability: Traffic patterns fluctuate widely based on seasonal tourism, local events, and weather 
conditions. 

• Traffic Management Needs: The significant seasonal variation underscores the need for targeted road 
maintenance, winter weather mitigation, and enhanced safety measures during peak periods. 

 

Level of Service (LOS) and the Shift to Vehicle Miles Travelled (VMT) Thresholds 
With consistently low baseline traffic volumes, the majority of state highways and local roads in Sierra County operate 
at LOS A or B under normal conditions. Short-term congestion occurs during special events, such as the Downieville 
Classic mountain bike festival or the opening day of fishing season, when surges in visitors and parked vehicles in 
community centers like Downieville create localized bottlenecks. Seasonal factors, including winter storms, chain 
controls, and emergency incidents, also contribute to delays or temporary road closures, affecting transportation 
reliability more significantly than traditional capacity-based LOS metrics. 

California’s adoption of Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) as the primary metric for environmental review under the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) marks a significant shift in how transportation impacts are evaluated. 
Senate Bill 743 (SB 743), enacted in 2013, transitioned CEQA’s focus from congestion and LOS toward VMT to better 
align with state goals for reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and combating climate change. This change 
reflects the understanding that traditional LOS metrics, which prioritize reducing vehicle delays, can inadvertently 
encourage roadway expansions and increase VMT, contradicting the state’s climate objectives. 

Sierra County’s unique rural context presents challenges and opportunities under the VMT framework. With a 
dispersed population and limited public transit options, VMT per capita in Sierra County is relatively high compared to 
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urban areas. However, the rural nature of the county limits congestion as a primary concern, making the shift to VMT 
a better indicator of environmental and sustainability impacts. 

The focus on VMT aligns with the goals of Senate Bill 375 (SB 375), which requires regional planning agencies to 
integrate transportation and land use planning to reduce GHG emissions. Under SB 375, strategies such as promoting 
infill development, enhancing transit options, and encouraging active transportation modes become critical for 
meeting state-mandated GHG reduction targets. 

In Sierra County, implementing VMT reduction strategies involves prioritizing projects that promote carpooling, active 
transportation, and efficient land use. For instance, expanding Safe Routes to School initiatives, improving bike and 
pedestrian infrastructure, and encouraging telecommuting through enhanced broadband access can reduce the need 
for long commutes while maintaining rural quality of life. Additionally, efforts to incorporate transit-oriented 
development (even in modest forms) near community hubs like Loyalton can reduce dependency on single-occupancy 
vehicles. 

The integration of VMT as a CEQA metric is not only a regulatory necessity but also an opportunity to reimagine 
transportation systems in Sierra County in ways that support the state’s sustainability goals while maintaining the 
county’s rural character. 

2.10. TRANSPORTATION SAFETY 

Collision Data and Trends 
Sierra County’s low traffic volumes correspond to relatively few reported collisions. The California Highway Patrol’s 
Statewide Integrated Traffic Records System (SWITRS) data (2019–2023) shows an average of fewer than 20 reported 
vehicle collisions annually, with serious injuries and fatalities remaining rare. However, even a small number of severe 
collisions can be significant in a small population. Factors contributing to collisions include driver unfamiliarity with 
mountain roads, wildlife crossings (deer, bears), and winter weather conditions that create ice and reduced visibility. 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Safety 
Non-motorized collisions are exceedingly rare, typically fewer than five incidents over a five-year period (SWITRS 
2019–2023). While the low number is encouraging, it may also reflect minimal year-round pedestrian or cyclist activity 
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on roads. Given the lack of extensive non-motorized infrastructure, any potential increase in walking or biking will 
require careful attention to facility design, speed control, and driver education to maintain safety. 

Wildlife-Vehicle Collisions (WVCs) 
Anecdotal evidence and Caltrans maintenance reports indicate that wildlife-vehicle collisions are an ongoing 
concern. Deer and other large mammals often cross rural roads, especially at dawn and dusk. Measures such as 
improved signage, roadside vegetation management, and consideration of wildlife undercrossings are potential 
safety strategies. 

2.11. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE CONSIDERATIONS 

Climate and Weather Impacts on Transportation 
Sierra County’s climate is characterized by harsh winters with snowfall exceeding 200 inches in high-elevation areas 
(National Weather Service, Reno Office). Snow removal is a significant cost and operational challenge. Freeze-thaw 
cycles damage pavement surfaces, requiring frequent maintenance. Mudslides and falling rocks in steep canyons 
can block roads, while summer thunderstorms and lightning strikes contribute to wildfire hazards. 
As climate change intensifies, the county faces potential increases in extreme weather events, altered snowpack and 
runoff patterns, and more frequent and intense wildfires. These conditions necessitate robust adaptation and 
resilience strategies for the transportation network. 

Air Quality and Emissions 
While air quality is generally good, complying with federal and state standards for ozone and particulates, wildfires in 
recent years have introduced smoke and particulate matter that can temporarily degrade air quality. The 
transportation sector remains a modest contributor to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions within the county. Due to 
long travel distances for basic services and an aging vehicle fleet, per capita GHG emissions from transportation may 
be higher than in more urbanized areas, even if absolute emissions are low. 
The California Air Resources Board (CARB) Emission Inventory (2023) suggests that vehicle miles traveled (VMT) per 
capita is comparatively high due to dispersed development patterns, highlighting a need for strategies to reduce 
unnecessary trips, support carpooling, and potentially encourage zero-emission vehicle (ZEV) adoption. 
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Environmental Regulations and Resource Conservation 
Federal and state environmental regulations influence transportation planning. Projects often require environmental 
review under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). 
Mitigation for impacts to sensitive habitats, wetlands, and cultural resources can affect project timelines and costs. 
Additionally, coordination with USFS and California Department of Fish and Wildlife ensures that transportation 
improvements align with resource conservation goals. 

2.12. PUBLIC HEALTH AND SOCIAL EQUITY CONSIDERATIONS 

Health and Mobility 
Sierra County’s aging population, with over 30% of residents aged 65 or older, faces significant challenges in 
accessing healthcare due to the lack of local comprehensive medical facilities. Most residents must travel over an 
hour to reach services in Nevada County or Reno, Nevada, creating barriers for those without reliable transportation. 
Demand-response transit services and volunteer driver programs are essential to bridge this gap, ensuring seniors 
and individuals with limited mobility can access critical healthcare. Expanding these services and enhancing their 
reliability will be key to addressing the county’s healthcare access disparities while supporting aging-in-place 
initiatives. 

Equity and Access 
Low-income households, seniors, individuals with disabilities, and isolated rural residents may face transportation 
barriers that limit access to employment, education, health care, and social services. In some cases, community 
organizations coordinate ride-sharing or subsidized transit fares to improve accessibility. Enhancing broadband 
connectivity could also mitigate some transportation needs by enabling telehealth appointments and 
telecommuting options. Ensuring equitable investment in transportation infrastructure and services remains a 
priority in the RTP. 

2.13. TECHNOLOGY AND COMMUNICATION INFRASTRUCTURE 

Broadband and Cellular Service 
Limited broadband and cellular coverage can hinder the adoption of advanced transportation technologies, such as 
real-time transit information, integrated mobility apps, or online ridesharing platforms. The California Public Utilities 
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Commission’s (CPUC) Broadband Maps (2023) show that many rural pockets of Sierra County lack reliable high-speed 
internet, affecting access to telematics, emergency notifications, and remote work opportunities. 

Electric Vehicle (EV) Infrastructure 
Sierra County’s EV charging infrastructure is currently limited, with only a few Level 2 charging stations located in 
Loyalton and Sierraville. This lack of accessible charging options along major corridors like State Routes 49 and 89 not 
only hampers local adoption of electric vehicles but also reduces the appeal of the region as a destination for eco-
conscious tourists who rely on electric cars. Visitors to popular areas such as Downieville, the Gold Lakes Basin, and 
Sierra City may avoid traveling to Sierra County due to concerns over range anxiety and the inability to recharge 
vehicles conveniently. 

Expanding EV charging infrastructure aligns closely with California’s broader climate goals under Senate Bill 100 and 
Senate Bill 375, which emphasize reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from the transportation sector. 
Increased charging access in rural and remote areas like Sierra County could support the state’s push toward 
widespread EV adoption, particularly as California transitions away from internal combustion engine vehicle sales by 
2035 under Executive Order N-79-20. 

Additionally, enhancing EV infrastructure could stimulate local economic development. Strategically located 
charging stations near recreational areas, downtowns, and visitor hubs would encourage EV drivers to spend more 
time and money in the county while their vehicles charge. For example, installing Level 2 and DC fast chargers in 
Downieville and near trailheads in the Lakes Basin Recreation Area would capture revenue from tourists while 
providing a critical service. 

For residents, improved EV infrastructure could lower the long-term costs of vehicle ownership, particularly as EV 
maintenance and fueling costs are typically lower than those for gasoline-powered vehicles. Coupled with California’s 
growing incentives for EV purchases and infrastructure, such as rebates under the Clean Vehicle Rebate Project 
(CVRP) and the California Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Project (CALeVIP), Sierra County could see increased EV 
adoption even among its more cost-conscious population segments. 

To achieve these goals, public-private partnerships can play a critical role. Working with EV manufacturers, charging 
network providers, and local businesses to co-fund charging station installations could reduce financial burdens on 
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the county. Federal programs under the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA), which includes substantial 
funding for rural EV infrastructure, present additional opportunities to accelerate deployment. 

Prioritizing the expansion of EV infrastructure, particularly at key nodes like Loyalton, Sierraville, and interregional 
corridors, could help Sierra County reduce transportation-related emissions, meet state climate objectives, and 
enhance its appeal to environmentally conscious visitors and residents alike. These investments also support long-
term economic growth while addressing Sierra County’s unique rural challenges. 

2.14. MAINTENANCE AND FINANCIAL CONSTRAINTS 

Transportation Funding Challenges 
Maintaining extensive roadway mileage with limited funding and a small tax base is a persistent challenge. The 
County relies on a combination of State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) funds, Highway User Tax 
Account (HUTA) allocations, federal grants, and limited local revenues. Costs for snow removal, pothole repairs, and 
bridge rehabilitation can exceed available funds, leading to deferred maintenance and long-term infrastructure 
vulnerabilities. 

Asset Management 
The County has begun to implement systematic asset management practices to prioritize projects. Pavement 
Condition Index (PCI) scores average between 55 and 65 (Sierra County Department of Transportation, 2023), 
indicating a need for ongoing rehabilitation. Bridge inspections reveal that while no bridges are currently posted for 
load limits, several are nearing the end of their functional service life and require rehabilitation or replacement in the 
coming decade. 

2.15. INTERGOVERNMENTAL AND REGIONAL COORDINATION 

Coordination with Neighboring Counties and Agencies 
Sierra County works with Nevada, Plumas, and Lassen Counties, as well as Washoe County in Nevada, to address 
interregional transportation concerns. The county also collaborates with Caltrans District 2 for state highway projects, 
and with the Tahoe Regional Planning Agency (TRPA) on matters that affect the broader Sierra Nevada region. 
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Interagency cooperation is essential for effective emergency response planning, corridor management, and grant 
applications. 

2.16. KEY FINDINGS AND IMPLICATIONS FOR THE RTP 

Rural Character, Low Density 
Sierra County’s rural character, characterized by dispersed settlement patterns and a low population density of 
roughly 3.4 persons per square mile, presents significant transportation challenges. The limited density makes 
traditional fixed-route transit systems economically unfeasible, leaving personal vehicles as the predominant mode of 
transportation. This reliance increases per-capita vehicle miles traveled (VMT), which can negatively impact 
environmental sustainability goals. Rural transit solutions, such as demand-response services, ride-sharing programs, 
and small-scale vanpooling, are critical to addressing mobility needs while maintaining fiscal efficiency. Long-term 
strategies must include flexible transit models tailored to the unique geography and travel patterns of Sierra County. 

Aging Population and Workforce Challenges 
With over 30% of Sierra County residents aged 65 or older, the transportation system must prioritize aging-in-place 
strategies. These include expanding paratransit services, improving sidewalk accessibility, and ensuring safe road 
conditions for medical and social trips. In addition, limited local employment opportunities force approximately 85% 
of the county’s workforce to commute to jobs in neighboring regions, such as Nevada County and Reno. These out-
commuting patterns contribute significantly to VMT. Strategies to reduce workforce-related VMT include enhancing 
telecommuting opportunities, providing commuter vanpools, and supporting economic development initiatives that 
create more local jobs. 

Recreational Tourism Demand 
Sierra County’s natural assets, including mountain biking trails in Downieville and the Gold Lakes Basin, attract 
thousands of visitors annually. Seasonal tourism creates temporary spikes in traffic volumes, especially during 
summer and fall, straining local roadways, parking infrastructure, and public safety resources. For example, parking 
congestion in Downieville during the annual Classic Mountain Bike Race often disrupts community access. Balancing 
the needs of tourists with the preservation of natural resources requires targeted investments, such as constructing 
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dedicated parking facilities, improving trailhead access, and developing shuttle services that reduce vehicle impacts 
in high-demand areas. 

Infrastructure Maintenance and Climate Resilience 
Sierra County’s harsh winters, with snowfall exceeding 200 inches in some areas, place heavy demands on 
transportation infrastructure. Frequent freeze-thaw cycles accelerate pavement degradation, while rockslides and 
flooding can disrupt critical routes. Aging bridges and narrow mountain roads further exacerbate these 
vulnerabilities. Limited local budgets often delay necessary maintenance, increasing long-term costs and safety risks. 
Climate change intensifies these challenges, necessitating proactive investments in resilient infrastructure. These 
include using climate-adaptive materials for road surfaces, constructing redundant evacuation routes, and 
integrating wildfire-resistant designs into road and bridge upgrades. 

Opportunities for Active Transportation and Sustainability 
Although current walking and biking infrastructure is limited, there is growing interest in active transportation, 
driven by recreational demand and statewide initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Expanding bike trails 
and pedestrian pathways not only enhances mobility for residents but also supports tourism. For example, 
connecting Downieville’s trail network to neighboring communities could boost local economies while encouraging 
non-motorized travel. 

Additionally, the integration of electric vehicle (EV) charging stations along State Routes 49 and 89 represents an 
opportunity to reduce transportation emissions while attracting eco-conscious travelers. Partnering with local 
businesses to install Level 2 and DC fast chargers can support both residents and visitors. Long-term investments in 
active transportation infrastructure and EV adoption align Sierra County’s transportation network with California’s 
sustainability goals, including those outlined in Senate Bill 375 and the shift to VMT-based planning metrics. 

2.17. CONCLUSION 

Sierra County’s existing transportation conditions reflect the region’s rural nature, aging population, environmental 
constraints, and limited financial resources. State highways and local roads form the backbone of mobility, while transit, 
pedestrian, and bicycle options remain constrained. Seasonal tourism, an essential economic driver, imposes distinct 
demands on infrastructure and services. Environmental challenges, from winter storms to wildfire hazards, underscore 
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the importance of building a resilient and adaptable transportation system. This detailed understanding of existing 
conditions will guide the development of the 2025 RTP, ensuring policies and investments are well-aligned with the 
county’s unique context and long-term goals. 
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Sierra County Transportation Commission  
Meeting:  January 15, 2025 
Agenda Item 13 – Sustainable Transportation Planning Grant Program 
 

A. Approval of letter of support for the Rural County Representatives of California (RCRC) 
application to Caltrans FY 2025-26 Sustainable Transportation Planning Grant Program - 
Sustainable Communities Competitive Grant to develop a county and regional Zero Emission 
Vehicle Infrastructure Readiness Plan.  
 

Background:  In California, roughly one in every 18 autos and small trucks is a ZEV, however 
in the combined region of Nevada and Sierra Counties, only one in every 36 vehicles is zero 
emission. Those most impacted by this slow transition in rural counties are those that are 
disadvantaged, that have low household incomes, and even with ownership of a ZEV, have little 
access to charging, either at public locations or at home.   

 
Recommended Motion:  Approve letter of support for the RCRC application to Caltrans FY 
2025-26 Sustainable Transportation Planning Grant Program. 
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
P.O. Box 98 
Downieville, CA   95936 
(530) 289-3201    FAX (530) 289-2828

Bryan Davey  
 Executive Director 

January 15, 2024 

Kaylon Hall  
Sierra County Transportation Commission 
P. O. Box 98 
Downieville, CA 95936 

Dear Nevada County, 

We are writing this letter to express our support for Sierra County 2025-26 Sustainable 
Transportation Planning Grant Program - Sustainable Communities Competitive Grant 
application to develop a county and regional Zero Emission Vehicle (ZEV) Infrastructure 
Readiness Plan. Not only do we support this effort in spirit, but we would also like to join several 
community organizations to participate in the Plan’s development, completion and successful 
implementation.  

Progress in ZEV infrastructure development in our county and other rural counties has lagged 
that of more populated regions, and at the same time, abundant and reliable charging is becoming 
increasingly important for economic sustainability, environmental health, safety, and quality of 
life for residents and visitors alike. Currently only eight percent of California’s charging 
infrastructure exists in the 40 counties of California considered rural. Without appropriate 
infrastructure, ZEV purchase rates have also fallen behind in these areas. In California, roughly 
one in every 18 autos and small trucks is a ZEV, however in the combined region of Nevada and 
Sierra Counties, only one in every 36 vehicles is zero emission. Those most impacted by this 
slow transition in rural counties are those that are disadvantaged, that have low household 
incomes, and even with ownership of a ZEV, have little access to charging, either at public 
locations or at home.   

One of the primary reasons that rural counties have fallen behind in the ZEV transition is a lack 
of strategy and readiness for ZEV infrastructure development. There are often additional hurdles 
for developing charging infrastructure in rural locations including a lack of supporting 
infrastructure such as power and broadband, challenging terrain and climate conditions, less 
immediate demand and revenues for charging, and generally less investment activity. It is for 
these reasons that action-oriented, broad community-driven planning is extraordinarily 
important, so that our county and region can take a proactive role in identifying optimal 
opportunities for charger development. 
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With the support of funding from the CalTrans Sustainable Transportation Planning Sustainable 
Communities Competitive Grant for a ZEV Readiness Plan, as well as the resources and support 
of Rural County Representatives of California (RCRC), the county will have  the capacity to 
complete this important Plan, and make significant progress toward a cleaner, more equitable, 
and sustainable transportation system in the Nevada and Sierra County region. 

For all the reasons above, and the urgent need of resources to develop this important Readiness 
Plan, we request your highest consideration of this grant application. Thank you, and please call 
if you have any questions. 

Sincerely, 

SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Bryan Davey 
Executive Director 

Cc: Supervisor (RCRC Delegate) 
Robert Burris, Deputy Chief Economic Development Officer, Rural County 
Representatives of California (RCRC) 
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Sierra County Transportation Commission  
Meeting:  January 15, 2025 
Agenda Item 14 – Audits  
 

 
A. Financial Statements & Audit Report for FY 23-24 for the Golden Rays Senior Citizens 

of Sierra County, Inc. prepared by Pehling’s PnPCPA in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. 
 

No action required. 
 

B. Financial Statements together with Independent Auditor’s Report for FY23-24 for the 
Sierra County Transit Fund prepared by Smith & Newell, CPAs in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards. 

 
No action required. 

 
C. Resolution accepting FY23-24 audit for the Sierra County Transit Fund and concur with 

the management response. 
 

Recommended Motion:  Adopt resolutions 2025-accepting FY23-24 audit for the Sierra County 
Transit Fund and concur with the management response.  
 

D. Financial Statements together with Independent Auditor’s Report for FY23-24 for the 
Sierra County Transportation Commission prepared by Smith & Newell, CPAs in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 
 

No action required. 
 
E. Resolution accepting FY23-24 audit for the Sierra County Transportation Commission 

and concur with the management response. 
 

Recommended Motion:  Adopt resolutions 2025-03 accepting FY23-24 audit for the Sierra 
County Transportation Commission and concur with the management response.  
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									AUDIT	REPORT

										June	30,	2024

Agenda Packet page 141



1

August 23, 2024

Golden Rays Senior Citizens of Sierra County, Inc.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Golden Rays Senior Citizens of Sierra 
County, Inc. as of and for the years-ended June 30, 2024, as listed in the Table of Contents.  In our 
opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Golden Rays Senior Citizens of Sierra County, Inc. as of June 30, 2024, and the respective 
changes in financial position, and cash flows where applicable for the years then ended, in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We
are required to be independent of the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

The District’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about The District’s
ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statem ent date,
including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
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individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based
on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain
internal control–related matters that we identified during the audit.

PNPCPA
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2024

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash in Financial Institutions 103,355$      

Accounts Receivable -                 

Deposits and Pre-Paid Expenses 8,329             

Total Current Assets: 111,684        

Fixed Assets

Equipment 2,504             

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (2,504)            

Total Fixed Assets: -                 

TOTAL ASSETS 111,684        

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities 2,548             

Total Current Liabilities: 2,548             

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,548             

NET ASSETS

Temporarily Restricted -                 

Unrestricted 109,136        

TOTAL NET ASSETS 109,136$      

109,136        

Golden	Rays	Senior	Citizens	of	Sierra	County,	Inc.

Statement	of	Financial	Position

June	30,	2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
3
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2024
REVENUES

Program Service Income 15,386$        

County Service Contract 75,000

Membership 590

Interest Income 1,067

Net Assets (restricted)\released from restrictions -                 

Contribution and Donations 6,600

TOTAL REVENUES 98,643           

EXPENSES

Program Service Expense

Program 80,316           

Total Program Service Expense 80,316           

Administrative Expense

Admin 10,800           

Total Administrative Expense 10,800           

TOTAL EXPENSES 91,116           

Net Increase (Decrease) in Unrestricted Assets 7,527             

TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED ASSETS

Temporarily Restricted Donations -                 

Amount restricted/(released) from Temporarily Restricted -                 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Temporarily

Restricted Assets -                 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS 7,526             

NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 101,610        

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR 109,136$      

-                 

Golden	Rays	Senior	Citizens	of	Sierra	County,	Inc.

Statement	of	Activities
For	the	Year-Ending

June	30,	2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
4
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Program Services Admininistrative Totals

Expenses

Salaries, Labor &Employee Benefits 39,750 -$ 39,750$           

Utilities 0 1,941 1,941                

Insurance 8,920 - 8,920

Professional Fees - 6,000 6,000

Office 14,006 2,859 16,865             

Depreciation - - -

Van Expense 17,640 - 17,640

Total Expenses 80,316$ 10,800$                91,116$           

Golden	Rays	Senior	Citizens	of	Sierra	County,	Inc.

STATEMENT	OF	FUNCTIONAL	EXPENSES

June	30,	2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
5
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash flow from Program Service 15,386$          

Cash flow from County Service Contract 75,000

Cash flow from Contributions 6,600

Cash received from Interest Income 1,067

Cash received from Other Income 590

Deduct: Expenses (91,506)           

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 7,137              

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES -                       

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Fixed Assets -                       

TOTAL CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING  ACTIVITIES -                       

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 7,137              

CASH BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR 96,218

CASH BALANCE, END OF YEAR 103,355$       

Golden	Rays	Senior	Citizens	of	Sierra	County,	Inc.

Statement	of	Cash	Flow	

For	the	Year	Ended

June	30,	2024

General 

Fund

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
6
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Golden Rays Senior Citizens of Sierra County, Inc.

Notes	to	Financial	Statements
June	30,	2024

7

Organization and Nature of Activities

Golden Rays Senior Citizens of Sierra County, Inc. (Organization) was established in September, 1978 
and operates as a nonprofit public benefit corporation.  The specific purpose of the Organization  
are to provide education to older adults in western Sierra County regarding their health, welfare, 
nutrition and other issues that they face as a result of the aging process, and to provide safe and 
adequate public transportation to older adults, their spouses and persons with disabilities in the 
community.  

The Organization is a governed entity administered by a Board of Directors (Board) that acts as the 
authoritative and legislative body of the entity.  The Board is comprised of seven (7) board 
members. 

The President, Vice-President, Secretary and Treasurer are elected by the General membership.  The 
Directors are then appointed by the elected Board Members.  The President’s responsibilities are to 
preside at all meetings of the Board; be the chief officer of the Organization; perform all duties 
commonly incident to the position of presiding officer of a board, commission, or business 
organization; and exercise supervision over the business of the Organization, and its officers.

Note 1: Significant Accounting Principles

A.Basis of Accounting

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  Net assets, revenues, expenses, gains, 
and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.  
Restrictions are those that specify a use of funds or assets which is significantly more specific than 
the broad purpose of the Organization for which the tax-exemption has been granted.  Accordingly 
net assets of the Organization and changes therein are classified and reported as follows:

Unrestricted net assets – Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations

Temporarily restricted net assets – As of June 30, 2024 the Organization had $- in
temporarily restricted net assets.

Permanently restricted net assets – As of June 30, 2024 the Organization had no 
permanently restricted net assets.

B. Functional Expenses

The costs of providing the Organization’s various programs and supporting services have been 
summarized on a functional basis in the statement of activities.  

The Organization maintains the following two functions:

Program services:
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Golden Rays Senior Citizens of Sierra County, Inc.

Notes	to	Financial	Statements
June	30,	2024

8

1. The Organization provides services such as transportation and other services to older 
adults.    

Support Services:

1. Administrative expenses consist of those activities not identifiable with a single 
function, however, their primary purpose is to provide direction and support to the 
Organization’s other functions.

C.Accounts Receivable

On an accrual basis, revenue is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have 
been satisfied.  Receivables are resources of the Organization based upon current year services not 
paid in the current year.  

D.Cash

The Organization’s deposits and certificates of deposit are entirely covered by federal depository 
insurance (FDIC).  The FDIC currently insures the first $250,000 of the Organization’s Cash at each 
financial institution.

E.Prepaid Expenses

Expenses for operations are expensed during the period that the expense is for.  Prepaid expenses 
represent operating expenses that are required to be paid in advance, such as insurances.

F.Capital Assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation is provided using 
the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the related asset, which range from 5 to 40
years.  Donated equipment is recorded at fair market value at the date of the donation and 
purchased equipment is recorded at cost.  Normal repairs and maintenance are expensed as 
incurred, whereas significant improvements that materially increase value or extend useful lives are 
capitalized and depreciated. 

G.Accounts Payable

The Organization reports an accounts payable on the statement of financial position.  The liabilities 
from expenses are recognized at the time they are incurred.  

H.Net Assets

Net assets present the difference between assets and liabilities in the statement of financial 
position.  Net assets are reported as restricted when there are legal limitations imposed on their 
use.  
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I.Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the 
financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results may differ from those estimates.

NOTE 2: INCOME TAXES

The Organization is exempt from taxes as they are recognized by the Internal Revenue Service and 
the Franchise Tax board of the State of California as tax exempt under section 501 ( c ) ( 3 ). 

NOTE 3: COUNTY CONTRACT
The Organization is a party to a 12-month service contract with Sierra County Department of Public 
Works and Transportation.  The contract consists of federal funds passed through the Federal 
Transit Administration under the Transportation Development Act and is subject to compliance with 
FTA third party contract requirements.  

NOTE 4: RISK MANAGEMENT

The Organization is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; damage to, and theft or 
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  During
2024, the Commission contracted with private insurance agencies for liability, property, crime 
damage, employee and director insurances.

NOTE 5:  CONTIGENCIES

As of June 30, 2024, the Organization did not have any pending litigation or potential nondisclosed 
liabilities that management believes would have a material effect on the financial statements.

NOTE 6:  DATE OF MANAGEMENT’S REVIEW

Subsequent events have been evaluated through August 23, 2024, which is the date the financial 
statements were available to be issued.  
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950 THARP ROAD, SUITE 502 YUBA CITY, CA 95993 TEL: (530) 673-9790 FAX: (530) 673-1305 ACCOUNTING@SMITHANDNEWELL.COM 

SMITH & NEWELL 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Sierra County Transportation Commission 

County of Sierra 

Downieville, California 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the proprietary fund of Sierra County Transit 

Fund, California (Transit Fund), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024, and the related notes to the 

financial statements, which collectively comprise the Transit Fund’s basic financial statements as listed in 

the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of the proprietary fund of the Transit Fund as of June 30, 2024, and the respective 

changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those standards are 

further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 

report.  We are required to be independent of the Transit Fund and to meet our other ethical 

responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that 

the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 

design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 

events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Transit Fund’s ability to continue 

as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 

information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
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To the Sierra County Transportation Commission 

County of Sierra 

Downieville, California 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinions.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and 

Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 

may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

control.  Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in 

the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 

statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 

Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures

include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Transit Fund’s internal control.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the

financial statements.

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,

that raise substantial doubt about the Transit Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern for a

reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 

that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Management has omitted the Management’s Discussion and Analysis that accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial 

statements.  Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 

the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial 

reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic or historical 

context.  Our opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected by this missing information. 
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To the Sierra County Transportation Commission 

County of Sierra 

Downieville, California 
 

 

Report on Summarized Comparative Information 

The financial statements include summarized prior year comparative information.  Such information does 

not include all of the information required to constitute a presentation in accordance with accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Accordingly, such information should be 

read in conjunction with the Transit Fund’s financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2023 from 

which such partial information was derived. 
 

We previously audited the Transit Fund’s June 30, 2023 financial statements and our report, dated 

December 28, 2023, expressed an unmodified opinion on the financial statements of the proprietary fund.  

In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended June 

30, 2023, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been 

derived. 
 

Other Information 
 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report.  The other information 

comprises the introductory section but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditor’s 

report thereon.  Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other information, and we 

do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 
 

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the 

basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If, based 

on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information 

exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 

 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 6, 

2024, on our consideration of the Transit Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 

of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 

matters.  The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 

financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Transit Fund’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report 

is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 

the Transit Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 
Smith & Newell CPAs 

Yuba City, California 

December 6, 2024
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSIT FUND

Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2024

(With Summarized Comparative Totals for June 30, 2023)

Totals
2024 2023

ASSETS
    Current Assets:
       Cash and investments 10,057$        -$                  
       Receivables:
          Intergovernmental 34,995          88,528          

                 Total Current Assets 45,052          88,528          

    Noncurrent Assets:
       Capital assets:
          Depreciable, net 62,768          27,966          
             Total capital assets 62,768          27,966          

                 Total Noncurrent Assets 62,768          27,966          

                 Total Assets 107,820        116,494        

LIABILITIES
       Due to County of Sierra 102,200        88,528          

                 Total Current Liabilities 102,200        88,528          

                 Total Liabilities 102,200        88,528          

NET POSITION
    Investment in capital assets 62,768          27,966          
    Unrestricted (57,148)         -                    

                 Total Net Position 5,620$          27,966$        

  

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

-4-
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSIT FUND

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and

Changes in Net Position

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

(With Summarized Comparative Totals for June 30, 2023)

Totals
2024 2023

OPERATING REVENUES
       Passenger fares 9,383$          16,321$        

                 Total Operating Revenues 9,383            16,321          

OPERATING EXPENSES
       Purchased transportation 159,383        176,321        
       Administration 23,535          18,588          
       Depreciation 38,914          24,313          

                 Total Operating Expenses 221,832        219,222        

                 Operating Income (Loss) (212,449)       (202,901)       

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
       Local transportation funds 87,005          96,168          
       State transit assistance 55,318          -                    
       State of good repair 19,399          -                    
       Intergovernmental revenues 34,995          88,528          
       Interest income (5,614)           (2,560)           
       Loss on disposal of capital assets (1,000)           -                    
       Transfers to Transportation Commission -                    (18,500)         

                 Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) 190,103        163,636        

                 Change in Net Position (22,346)         (39,265)         

Total Net Position - Beginning 27,966          67,231          

Total Net Position - Ending 5,620$          27,966$        

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSIT FUND

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

(With Summarized Comparative Totals for June 30, 2023)

Totals
2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
       Receipts from customers 9,383$          16,321$        
       Payments to suppliers (182,918)       (194,909)       

                 Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (173,535)       (178,588)       

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
       Local transportation funds 87,005          96,168          
       State transit assistance 55,318          -                    
       State of good repair 19,399          -                    
       Intergovernmental revenues 88,528          133,181        
       Interfund loans received 102,200        88,528          
       Interfund loans repaid (88,528)         (118,229)       
       Transfers to Transportation Commission -                    (18,500)         

                 Net Cash Provided (Used) by Non-Capital Financing Activities 263,922        181,148        

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
       Acquisition of capital assets (74,716)         -                    

               Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Related Financing Activities (74,716)         -                    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
       Interest on investments (5,614)           (2,560)           

               Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities (5,614)           (2,560)           

               Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 10,057          -                    

               Balances - Beginning -                    -                    

               Balances - Ending 10,057$        -$                  

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET
   CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
   Operating income (loss) (212,449)$     (202,901)$     
   Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash 
      provided by operating activities:
         Depreciation 38,914          24,313          

                 Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (173,535)$     (178,588)$     

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

-6-
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSIT FUND 

Notes to Basic Financial Statements  

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 
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NOTE 1:  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

A. Reporting Entity 

 

The Legislature of the State of California, enacted the Transportation Development Act (TDA) (SB325) 

represented by Chapter 1400, Statutes of 1971, effective July 1, 1972. The TDA provides for state funding 

to the counties for public transportation expenditures. The principal source of funding is derived from 1/4 

cent of the state sales tax collected statewide. The 1/4 cent is returned by the California Department of Tax 

and Fee Administration to each county according to the amount of sales tax collected in the county. 

 

The TDA requires that each county have a transportation planning agency. The Sierra County 

Transportation Commission (SCTC) fulfills this requirement and is reported on under a separate report. 

 

The transfers from the SCTC to the Transit Fund are to meet the excess of expenses over revenues of the 

transit system, which are deemed unmet transit needs of the County. 

 

The financial statements are intended to present the financial position and results of operations and cash 

flows of only the transactions attributable to the Sierra County Transit Fund.  They are not intended to 

present the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the County of Sierra taken as a whole.  

  

The Transit Fund is presented as an enterprise fund within the County of Sierra financial statements. 

 

B. Basis of Presentation 

 

Fund financial statements of the Transit Fund are organized into one fund, which is considered to be a 

separate accounting entity. The fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts 

that constitute its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, fund 

equity, revenues, and expenses. The fund is organized into the proprietary category and is treated as a major 

fund. 

 

C. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 

 

The proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus 

and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the 

time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Nonexchange transactions, 

in which the Transit Fund gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in 

exchange include, local transportation revenue and state transit assistance revenues. Revenues from grants, 

entitlements, and donations are recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been 

satisfied. 

 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating 

revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 

connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of 

proprietary funds are charges to customers for services.  Operating expenses for proprietary funds include 

the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation of capital assets. All revenues and 

expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 
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NOTE 1:  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

For purposes of the accompanying Statement of Cash Flows, the Transit Fund considers all highly liquid 

investments, with original maturity of three months or less and amounts held in the County’s investment 

pool to be cash and cash equivalents. 

 

E. Investments 

 

The Transit Fund pools all cash and investments with the County of Sierra.  The Transit Fund’s share in the 

pool is displayed in the accompanying financial statements as cash and investments. 

 

Participant’s equity in the investment pool is determined by the dollar amount of participants deposits, 

adjusted for withdrawals and distributed investment income.  Investment income is determined on an 

amortized cost basis.  Interest payments, accrued interest, accreted discounts, amortized premiums, and 

realized capital gains and losses, net of administrative fees, are apportioned to pool participants every 

quarter.  This method differs from the fair value method used to value investments in these financial 

statements as unrealized gains or losses are not apportioned to pool participants.  During the fiscal year 

ended June 30, 2024, the County Treasurer has not entered into any legally binding guarantees to support 

the value of participant equity in the investment pool. 

 

F. Receivables 

 

Receivables consist mainly of intergovernmental revenues.  Management believes its receivables are fully 

collectible and, accordingly, no allowance for doubtful accounts is required. 

 

G. Unearned Revenue 

 

Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenue may be recognized only when it is earned. When assets are 

recognized in connection with a transaction before the earning process is complete, those assets are offset 

by corresponding liability for unearned revenue. 

 

H. Capital Assets 

 

Capital assets are defined by the Transit Fund as assets with a cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated 

useful life of more than one year.  Capital assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost 

if actual historical cost is unavailable.  Contributed capital assets are recorded at their acquisition value at 

the date of donation. 

 

Capital assets used in operations are depreciated or amortized using the straight-line method over the assets’ 

estimated useful lives.  The range of estimated useful lives by type of asset is as follows: 

 
  Depreciable Asset Estimated Lives 

  Transit vehicles and equipment 4 to 7 years 

 

Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations when incurred.  Betterments and major improvements 

which significantly increase values, change capacities or extend useful lives are capitalized. Upon sale or 

retirement of capital assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective 

accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in the results of operations. 
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NOTE 1:  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

I.  Compensated Absences, Pension Benefits, and Other Postemployment Benefits 

 

The Transit Fund has no employees and consequently does not provide compensated absences, pension 

benefits, or other postemployment benefits. 

 

J. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 

outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents 

a consumption of net assets that applies to future periods and so will not be recognized as an outflow of 

resources (expense) until then.  At June 30, 2024, the Transit Fund did not have any deferred outflows of 

resources. 

 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 

deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, 

represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to future periods and so will not be recognized as an 

inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  At June 30, 2024, the Transit Fund did not have any deferred 

inflows of resources. 

 

K. Estimates 

 

The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 

in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain 

reported amounts and disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 

L. Implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements  

 

The following Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements have been implemented, if 

applicable, in the current financial statements. 

 

Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022. This statement will enhance comparability in the application of 

accounting and financial reporting requirements and will improve the consistency of authoritative literature.  

Consistent authoritative literature enables governments and other stakeholders to more easily locate and 

apply the correct accounting and financial reporting provisions, which improves the consistency with which 

such provisions are applied. The comparability of financial statements also will improve as a result of this 

Statement.  Better consistency and comparability improve the usefulness of information for users of state 

and local government financial statements.  

 

Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections.  The requirements of this Statement will 

improve the clarity of the accounting and financial reporting requirements for accounting changes and error 

corrections, which will result in greater consistency in application in practice.  In turn, more understandable, 

reliable, relevant, consistent, and comparable information will be provided to financial statement users for 

making decisions or assessing accountability.  In addition, the display and note disclosure requirements will 

result in more consistent, decision useful, understandable, and comprehensive information for users about 

accounting changes and error corrections. 
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NOTE 1:  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

M. Future Accounting Pronouncements 

 

The following GASB Statements will be implemented, if applicable, in future financial statements: 
 

Statement No. 101  “Compensated Absences”  The requirements of this statement are effective for fiscal 

years beginning after December 15, 2023. (FY 24/25) 

 

Statement No. 102  “Certain Risk Disclosures”  The requirements of this statement are effective for fiscal 

years beginning after June 15, 2024. (FY 24/25) 

 

Statement No. 103  “Financial Reporting Model Improvements”  The requirements of this statement are 

effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2025. (FY 25/26) 

 

NOTE 2: CASH AND INVESTMENTS 

 

A. Financial Statement Presentation 

  

As of June 30, 2024, the Transit Fund’s cash and investments consisted of the following: 

 
 Cash and Investments: 

  Sierra County Treasurer’s pool $       10,057 
 

   Total Cash and Investments  $       10,057 

 

B. Cash 

 

Custodial Credit Risk for Deposits - Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the 

failure of a depository financial institution, the Transit Fund will not be able to recover its deposits or 

collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  The Transit Fund complies with the 

requirements of the California Government Code.  Under this code, deposits of more than $250,000 must 

be collateralized at 105 percent to 150 percent of the value of the deposit to guarantee the safety of the 

public funds. 

 

C.  Investments 

 

At June 30, 2024, all investments of the Transit Fund were in the County of Sierra investment pool.  Under 

the provisions of the County’s investment policy and the California Government Code, the County may 

invest or deposit in the following: 

 

 U.S. Treasuries and Agencies 

 Medium-Term Corporate Notes 

 Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 

 Time Certificates of Deposit 

 Bankers’ Acceptances 

 Commercial Paper 

 Repurchase Agreements 

 Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) 

 California Asset Management Program (CAMP) 

 Investment Trust of California (CalTRUST) 
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NOTE 2: CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

C.  Investments (Continued) 

 
Fair Value of Investments - The County measures and records its investments using fair value measurement 

guidelines established by generally accepted accounting principles.  These guidelines recognize a three-

tiered fair value hierarchy as follows: 

 

 Level 1: Quoted prices for identical investments in active markets; 

 Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted market prices; and, 

 Level 3: Unobservable inputs 

 

As of June 30, 2024, the Transit Fund held no individual investments.   Accordingly, the measurement of 

fair value for the Transit Fund’s proportionate share of investments in the County investment pool is based 

on uncategorized inputs not defined as Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3.  Required disclosure information 

regarding categorization of investments and other deposit and investment risk disclosures can be found in 

the County’s financial statements.  The County of Sierra’s financial statements may be obtained by 

contacting the County of Sierra Auditor-Controller’s Office at 211 Nevada Street, Downieville, CA 95936. 

 
Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk of loss due to the fair value of an investment falling due to 

interest rates rising.  Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its 

fair value to changes in market interest rates.  To limit exposure to fair value losses resulting from increases 

in interest rates, the County’s investment policy limits investment maturities to a term appropriate to the 

need for funds so as to permit the County to meet all projected obligations. 

 

Credit Risk - Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder 

of the investment.  This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical 

rating organization.  The County’s investment policy sets specific parameters by type of investment to be 

met at the time of purchase.  As of June 30, 2024, the Transit Fund’s investments were all held with the 

County of Sierra investment pool which is not rated by a nationally recognized statistical rating 

organization. 

 

Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a 

depository financial institution, the Transit Fund will not be able to recover its deposits or collateral 

securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  With respect to investments, custodial credit risk 

generally applies only to direct investments in marketable securities.  Custodial credit risk does not apply 

to a local government’s indirect investments in securities through the use of mutual funds or government 

investment pools. 

 

Concentration of Credit Risk - Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of 

the Transit Fund’s investment in a single issuer of securities.  When investments are concentrated in one 

issuer, this concentration presents a heightened risk of potential loss.  State law and the investment policy 

of the County contain limitations on the amount that can be invested in any one issuer.  All investments of 

the Transit Fund were in the Sierra County investment pool which contains a diversification of investments. 
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NOTE 3: CAPITAL ASSETS 

 

Capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2024, was as follows: 

 
    Balance       Balance       

      July 1, 2023     Additions    Retirements  June 30, 2024  

 Capital Assets, Being Depreciated: 

 Transit vehicles and equipment  $       240,238  $       74,716  ($    49,586) $        265,368  
  

 Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated           240,238           74,716  (      49,586)           265,368  
 

 Less Accumulated Depreciation For: 

 Transit vehicles and equipment  (        212,272) (         38,914)        48,586  (          202,600) 

 

 Total Accumulated Depreciation  (        212,272) (         38,914)        48,586  (          202,600) 
 

 Total Capital Assets, Net  $         27,966  $       35,802  ($      1,000)  $          62,768  

 

Depreciation expense of $38,914 was charged to operations. 

 

NOTE 4: UNEARNED REVENUES 

   

The County of Sierra, County Transportation Commission allocates State Transit Assistance (STA) funds 

and Local Transportation Fund (LTF) funds to the transit system to fund its operations.  The Transportation 

Development Act (TDA) requires that any funds not used must be returned to their source.  STA and LTF 

allocations are considered earned when they are properly spent for operations by the transit system.  

Allocations received but not earned are recorded as unearned revenue.  As of June 30, 2024, the Transit 

Fund had no unearned revenues. 

 

NOTE 5: PURCHASED TRANSPORTATION 

 

The Sierra County Transportation Commission contracts with two non-profit corporations for transit 

services.  The contracts are renewed on an annual basis.  Although payments are based on estimated 

expenses, any excess funds are returned in the following fiscal year.  Fare revenues, which consist mainly 

of donations, are retained by the transit contractor.  Area Agency on Aging funds are used as local match 

when donations do not meet the required 10 percent fare revenue ratios. 

 

NOTE 6: NET POSITION 

 

The proprietary fund financial statements utilize a net position presentation. Net position is categorized as 

net investment in capital assets, restricted and unrestricted. 

 

• Net investment in capital assets - consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets, net 

of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, 

notes or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of 

those assets. 
 

• Restricted net position - consists of net position with constraints placed on the use either by (1) 

external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other 

governments; or (2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 

• Unrestricted net position - all other net position that does not meet the definition of “restricted” 

or “net investment in capital assets”. 
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NOTE 6: NET POSITION (CONTINUED) 

 

Net Position Flow Assumption 

 

When a government funds outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted resources, 

a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied.  When 

both restricted and unrestricted net position are available, it is considered that restricted resources are used 

first, followed by the unrestricted resources. 

 

NOTE 7:   RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
The Transit Fund is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 

assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The Transit Fund is covered 

under the County of Sierra’s risk management programs. 

 

NOTE 8: OTHER INFORMATION 

 

A. Subsequent Events 

 
Management has evaluated events subsequent to June 30, 2024 through December 6, 2024, the date on 

which the financial statements were available for issuance.  Management has determined no subsequent 

events requiring disclosure have occurred. 

 

B. Fare Revenue Ratio 

 

The County is required by the Transportation Development Act (TDA) to maintain a fare revenue ratio to 

operating expenses of 10 percent or more.  During the year ended June 30, 2024, the fare revenue ratio was 

5.13 percent.  The calculation of the fare revenue ratio for fiscal year ending June 30, 2024, is as follows: 

 
   June 30, 2024 
 

 Fare Revenue $         9,383  
 

 Total Operating Expenses 221,832  
 

 Allowable TDA Adjustments:  

  Depreciation (         38,914) 
 

 Net Operating Expenses $     182,918  
 

 Fare Revenue Ratio           5.13% 
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SMITH & NEWELL 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 

REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN 

AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS AND THE RULES AND 

REGULATIONS OF THE TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT 

To the Sierra County Transportation Commission 

County of Sierra 

Downieville, California 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and the applicable fiscal audit requirements of the 

Transportation Development Act including Public Utilities Code Section 99245 and the California Code of 

Regulations Title 21, Section 6664, the financial statements of the proprietary fund of the Sierra County 

Transit Fund of the County of Sierra, California (Transit Fund), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024, 

and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Transit Fund’s basic 

financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated December 6, 2024. 

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the County of Sierra Transit Fund and are not 

intended to present fairly the financial position of the County of Sierra, California and the changes in 

financial position and cash flows of its proprietary fund types in conformity with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Transit Fund's internal 

control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Transit Fund's internal control. 

Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Transit Fund's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 

detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 

of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of 

the Transit Fund's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 

significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 

than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 

section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 

weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 

deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses 

or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
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To the Sierra County Transportation Commission 

County of Sierra 

Downieville, California 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Transit Fund's financial statements are free 

from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 

regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 

effect on the financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions 

was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our 

tests disclosed instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 

Government Auditing Standards and which are described in the accompanying schedule of findings and 

recommendations as item 2024-001. 

Additionally, we performed tests of the Transit Fund’s compliance with the specific tasks identified in the 

California Code of Regulations Title 21, Section 6667 that are applicable to the Transit Fund and tests to 

determine that certain state funds were received and expended in accordance with state accounting 

requirements.  However, our objective was not to provide an opinion on overall compliance with such 

provisions.  Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances 

of noncompliance that are required to be reported. 

Transit Fund’s Response to the Finding 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the Transit Fund’s 

response to the findings identified in our audit and described in the accompanying schedule of findings and 

recommendations.  The Transit Fund’s response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied 

in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 

and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 

control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 

this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Smith & Newell CPAs 

Yuba City, California 

December 6, 2024 
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2024-001 Farebox Revenue Ratio (Non-Compliance) 

 

 Criteria 

 

 Public Utility Code Section 99268.2 and the Transportation Development Act require a ratio of fare 

revenues to operating cost at least equal to one-tenth (10 percent) for transit operators serving in 

nonurbanized areas. 

 

 Condition 

  

 The Transit Fund had a farebox revenue ratio of 5.13 percent for the 2023/2024 fiscal year. 

 

 Cause 

 

 The expenditures significantly increased in the current year and ridership decreased from the prior year. 

 

 Effect  

 

 The Transit Fund was not in compliance with Public Utilities Code Section 99268.2 and the 

Transportation Development Act. 

 

 Questioned Cost 

 

 No questioned costs were identified as a result of our procedures. 

 

 Context 

 

 Not applicable. 

 

 Repeat Finding 

 

 This is a repeat of prior year finding 2023-001. 

 

 Recommendation 

 

We recommend that the Transit Fund maintain a farebox revenue ratio of 10 percent as required by 

Public Utility Code Section 99268.2 and the Transportation Development Act. 

 

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Action 

 

Refer to separate Management’s Corrective Action Plan for views of responsible officials and 

management’s responses. 
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Audit Reference 

 

2023-001 

Status of Prior Year Audit Recommendation 

 

Farebox Revenue Ratio 

 

Recommendation 

 

We recommend that the Transit Fund maintain a farebox revenue ratio of 10 

percent as required by Public Utility Code Section 99268.2 and the 

Transportation Development Act. 

 

Status 

 

Not implemented 
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2024-001 Farebox Revenue Ratio (Non-Compliance) 
 

We recommend that the Transit Fund maintain a farebox revenue ratio of 10 percent as required by Public 

Utility Code Section 99268.2 and the Transportation Development Act. 
 

Management’s Response: The Commission has only accounted for the 10% farebox revenue 

requirement based on the actual purchased transit operations and not the 

administration costs associated with the Transit Fund.  In past years we 

have always received larger farebox revenues and thought we were over-

matching the 10% requirements.  Over the past few years our 

administration costs have increased, and we have not met 10% minimum 

requirement.  Management requires each provider to meet a 10% 

minimum farebox contribution to their operations budget, which they have 

done.  On May 22, 2024, the Commission adopted Resolution 2024-11, 

reducing the LTF farebox ration to 5% for Sierra County. 

 

 This finding will be reported to the Commission at the January 15, 2025, 

meeting for concurrence with this statement. 

 
Responsible Individual: Bryan Davey, Executive Director, Sierra County Transportation 

Commission 

 

Corrective Action Plan: The Commission has adopted a 5% farebox ratio requirement per 

Resolution SCTC 2024-11 to reduce the farebox ratio requirement to 5% 

for Sierra County.  The current year farebox ratio was 5.13% and in 

compliance with the adopted farebox ratio.  In addition, both service 

providers did meet the 10% farebox ration for their individual operations 

budgets. 

 

Anticipated Completion Date: January 15, 2025 
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
 

IN THE MATTER OF  
ACCEPTING THE FY23-24 AUDIT FOR  

THE SIERRA COUNTY TRANSIT FUND AND 
CONCUR WITH THE MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  

 
 

Resolution 2025-02 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED that the Sierra County Transportation Commission hereby accept 
the FY23-24 audit for the Sierra County Transit Fund and concur with the management response. 
 

ADOPTED by the Sierra County Transportation Commission on the 15th day of January, 
2025 by the following vote: 
 
AYES: _________________________________________ 
NOES: _________________________________________ 
ABSTAINED: _________________________________________ 
ABSENT: _________________________________________ 
 
 

  
       _____________________________________ 
                                                                    , Chair 
       Sierra County Transportation Commission 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Suzanne Smith, Executive Secretary 
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950 THARP ROAD, SUITE 502 YUBA CITY, CA 95993 TEL: (530) 673-9790 FAX: (530) 673-1305 ACCOUNTING@SMITHANDNEWELL.COM 

SMITH & NEWELL 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 

To the Sierra County Transportation Commission 

County of Sierra 

Downieville, California 

 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Opinions 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities and each major 

fund of the Sierra County Transportation Commission, California (Commission), as of and for the year 

ended June 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 

Commission’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

respective financial position of the governmental activities and each major fund of the Commission as of 

June 30, 2024, and the respective changes in financial position, thereof for the year then ended in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 

Basis for Opinions 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those standards are 

further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 

report.  We are required to be independent of the Commission and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, 

in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 

design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 

events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Commission’s ability to continue 

as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 

information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

 

Agenda Packet page 197



 

-2- 

To the Sierra County Transportation Commission 

County of Sierra 

Downieville, California 

 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinions.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and 

Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 

may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

control.  Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in 

the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 

statements. 

 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 

Standards, we: 

 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures 

include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. 

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Commission’s internal control.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 

financial statements. 

 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 

that raise substantial doubt about the Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 

reasonable period of time. 

 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 

that we identified during the audit. 
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To the Sierra County Transportation Commission 

County of Sierra 

Downieville, California 
 

 

Required Supplementary Information 
 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the budgetary 

comparison information as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial 

statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic 

financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be 

an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 

operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 

supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 

of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 

and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 

financial statements, and other knowledge we obtain during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We 

do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do 

not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 

Management has omitted the Management’s Discussion and Analysis that accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial 

statements.  Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 

the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial 

reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic or historical 

context.  Our opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected by this missing information. 
 

Supplementary Information 

 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 

comprise the Commission’s basic financial statements.  The accompanying Schedules of Allocations and 

Expenditures are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 

financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 

relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  

The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 

statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 

directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to 

the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 

standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the Schedules of Allocations 

and Expenditures are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a 

whole. 
 

Other Information 
 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report.  The other information 

comprises the introductory section, but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditor’s 

report thereon.  Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other information, and we 

do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 
 

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the 

basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If, based 

on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information 

exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 
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To the Sierra County Transportation Commission 

County of Sierra 

Downieville, California 

 

 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 6, 

2024, on our consideration of the Commission’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 

of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 

matters.  The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 

financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Commission’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report 

is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 

the Commission’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 

Smith & Newell CPAs 

Yuba City, California 

December 6, 2024
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2024

Total
Governmental

Activities
ASSETS
       Cash and investments 7,400$           
       Receivables:
          Intergovernmental 77,601           
       Due from Sierra County Transit Fund 102,200         

                 Total Assets 187,201         

LIABILITIES
       Accounts payable 25,947           
       Unearned revenue 8,453             

                 Total Liabilities 34,400           

NET POSITION
       Restricted for transportation 152,801         

                 Total Net Position 152,801$       

 

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Net (Expense)
Revenue and
Changes in

Program Revenues Net Position
Operating Capital Total

Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental
Functions/Programs: Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities
       Governmental activities:
          Transportation 307,746$      -$                  266,403$      -$                  (41,343)$       

                 Total Governmental Activities 307,746        -                    266,403        -                    (41,343)         

                 Total 307,746$      -$                  266,403$      -$                  (41,343)         

General revenues:
   Interest and investment earnings 5,196             

            Total General Revenues 5,196             

            Change in Net Position (36,147)         

Net Position - Beginning 188,948         

Net Position - Ending 152,801$       

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds

June 30, 2024

State
Transportation Local Transit

Planning Transportation Assistance Totals
ASSETS
       Cash and investments -$                      7,319$              81$                   7,400$              
       Receivables:
          Intergovernmental 50,432              15,266              11,903              77,601              
       Due from other funds -                        73,670              -                        73,670              
       Due from Sierra County Transit Fund -                        2,200                100,000            102,200            

                 Total Assets 50,432$            98,455$            111,984$          260,871$          

LIABILITIES 
       Accounts payable 25,947$            -$                      -$                      25,947$            
       Due to other funds 73,670              -                        -                        73,670              
       Unearned revenue 8,453                -                        -                        8,453                

                 Total Liabilities 108,070            -                        -                        108,070            

FUND BALANCES
       Restricted for:
          Local transportation fund allocations -                        98,455              -                        98,455              
          State transit assistance allocations -                        -                        105,701            105,701            
          State of good repair -                        -                        6,283                6,283                
       Unassigned (57,638)             -                        -                        (57,638)             

                 Total Fund Balances (57,638)             98,455              111,984            152,801            

                 Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 50,432$            98,455$            111,984$          260,871$          

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the

to the Government-Wide Statement of

Net Position - Governmental Activities

 June 30, 2024

Total Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds 152,801$      

       No adjustments were needed to reconcile the governmental funds Balance Sheet to the government-wide
          Statement of Net Position.

Net Position of Governmental Activities 152,801$      

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and

Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

State
Transportation Local Transit

Planning Transportation Assistance Totals
REVENUES
       Intergovernmental:
          Rural planning assistance 161,952$          -$                      -$                      161,952$          
          PPM 19,093              -                        -                        19,093              
          Local transportation fund allocation -                        86,396              -                        86,396              
          State transit assistance allocation -                        -                        50,146              50,146              
          State of good repair -                        -                        6,410                6,410                
       Use of money -                        1,616                3,580                5,196                

                 Total Revenues 181,045            88,012              60,136              329,193            

EXPENDITURES
       Planning and administration:
          Administration 8,701                10,030              -                        18,731              
          Development and monitoring of the OWP 9,549                -                        -                        9,549                
          Project development 13,040              -                        -                        13,040              
          Regional Transportation Plan 14,039              -                        -                        14,039              
          Regional Transportation Improvement Program 5,817                -                        -                        5,817                
          Aviation 564                   -                        -                        564                   
          Intergovernmental review and public outreach 22,670              -                        -                        22,670              
          Miscellaneous 42,295              -                        -                        42,295              
       Transit -                        87,005              74,717              161,722            
       STIP programming, planning and monitoring 19,319              -                        -                        19,319              

                 Total Expenditures 135,994            97,035              74,717              307,746            

                 Net Change in Fund Balances 45,051              (9,023)               (14,581)             21,447              

Fund Balances - Beginning (102,689)           107,478            126,565            131,354            

Fund Balances - Ending (57,638)$           98,455$            111,984$          152,801$          

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

-9-
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures

and Changes in Fund Balances of the Governmental Funds to the

Government-Wide Statement of Activities - Governmental Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds 21,447$        

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:

       Some revenues reported in the Statement of Activities will not be collected for several months after
          the Commission's year end and do not provide current financial resources and therefore are not
          reported as revenues in the governmental funds.
             Change in unavailable revenue (57,594)         

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities (36,147)$       

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

-10-
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NOTE 1:  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

A. Reporting Entity 

 

The Sierra County Transportation Commission, the regional transportation planning agency for the County 

of Sierra, was created pursuant to Title 3 of Government Code Section 29535.  The Commission is 

responsible for transportation planning activities as well as administration of the Local Transportation Fund 

and State Transit Assistance Fund.  

 

The Commission receives monies and allocates these monies for the planning, management, and operation 

of public transportation systems within the County of Sierra.  The Commission also has the authority to 

allocate monies for other transportation related activities including street and road projects. 

 

Component Units 

 

Generally accepted accounting principles require government financial statements to include the primary 

government and its component units.  Component units of a governmental entity are legally separate entities 

for which the primary government is considered to be financially accountable and for which the nature and 

significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause the 

combined financial statements to be misleading.  The primary government is considered to be financially 

accountable if it appoints a majority of an organization’s governing body and is able to impose its will on 

that organization or there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to or 

impose specific financial burdens on the primary government. 

 

Based on the application of the criteria set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, 

management has determined that there are no component units of the Commission. 

 

Related Organizations 

 

The County of Sierra performs administrative and accounting functions for the Commission.  However, the 

County is not financially accountable for this organization and therefore the Commission is not a component 

unit under Statement Nos. 14, 39 and 61 of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. 

 

B. Basis of Presentation 

 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

 

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities display information on all the activities of the 

Commission. These statements include the financial activities of the overall Commission. These statements 

report the governmental activities of the Commission, which are normally supported by taxes and 

intergovernmental revenues.  The Commission had no business-type activities at June 30, 2024. 

 

The Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each 

function of the Commission’s governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically 

associated with a program or function and therefore are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program 

revenues include 1) charges paid by the recipients of goods and services offered by the program, 2) 

operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions. Taxes and other items not 

properly included among program revenues are presented instead as general revenues. 
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NOTE 1:  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

B. Basis of Presentation (Continued) 

 

Fund Financial Statements 

 

Fund financial statements of the Commission are organized into three funds, which are considered to be 

separate accounting entities.  Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing 

accounts that constitute its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, 

fund equity, revenues and expenditures.  The funds of the Commission are organized into the governmental 

category and are treated as major funds. 

 

The Commission reports the following major governmental funds: 

 

• The Transportation Planning fund is the General fund of the Commission and is used to account 

for transportation planning activities. 

 

• The Local Transportation fund is a special revenue fund used to account for local transportation 

activities.  Funding comes primarily from local transportation fund allocations. 

 

• The State Transit Assistance fund is a special revenue fund used to account for the receipt and 

expenditure of State Transit Assistance and State of Good Repair funds.  Funding comes primarily 

from State Transit Assistance and State of Good Repair allocations. 

 

C. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 

 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus 

and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the 

time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Nonexchange transactions, 

in which the Commission gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in 

exchange, include sales tax, grants, entitlements, and donations. Under the accrual basis, revenues from 

sales tax are recognized when the underlying transactions take place. Revenues from grants, entitlements, 

and donations are recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.   

 

Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified 

accrual basis of accounting.  Under this method, revenues are recognized when measurable and available.  

Sales taxes, interest, and certain state and federal grants are considered susceptible to accrual and are 

accrued when their receipt occurs within sixty days after the end of the fiscal year.  Expenditures are 

generally recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  However, debt service 

expenditures as well as expenditures related to claims and judgments are recorded only when payment is 

due.  General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in the governmental funds.  Proceeds 

of governmental long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing 

sources. 

 

D. Non-Current Governmental Assets/Liabilities 

 

Non-current governmental assets and liabilities, such as capital assets and long-term liabilities, are reported 

in the governmental activities column in the government-wide Statement of Net Position. 
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NOTE 1:  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

E. Investments 

 

The Commission pools all cash and investments with the County of Sierra. The Sierra County Treasury is 

an external investment pool for the Commission and the Commission is considered an involuntary 

participant.  The Commission’s share in the pool is displayed in the accompanying financial statements as 

cash and investments. 

 

Participant’s equity in the investment pool is determined by the dollar amount of participants deposits, 

adjusted for withdrawals and distributed investment income.  Investment income is determined on an 

amortized cost basis.  Interest payments, accrued interest, accreted discounts, amortized premiums and 

realized capital gains and losses, net of administrative fees, are apportioned to pool participants every 

quarter.  This method differs from the fair value method used to value investments in the financial 

statements as unrealized gains and losses are not apportioned to pool participants.  During the year ended 

June 30, 2024, the Sierra County Treasurer has not entered into any legally binding guarantees to support 

the value of participant equity in the investment pool. 

 

F. Receivables 

 

Receivables consist mainly of intergovernmental revenues. Management believes its receivables are fully 

collectible and, accordingly, no allowance for doubtful accounts is required. 

 

G. Inventory 

 

Inventories are recorded as expenditures at the time the inventory is purchased rather than when consumed.  

Records are not maintained of inventory and supplies on hand, although these amounts are not considered 

material. 

 

H. Capital Assets 

 

Capital assets would be valued at historical cost, or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost was not 

available. Contributed capital assets would be valued at their acquisition value on the date donated. Major 

outlays for capital assets and improvements would be capitalized as projects are constructed. 

 

Capital assets used in operations would be depreciated or amortized using the straight-line method over the 

assets’ estimated useful lives in the government-wide financial statements. 

 

At June 30, 2024, the Commission did not have any capital assets. 

 

I. Unearned Revenue 

 

Under the accrual and modified accrual basis of accounting, revenue may be recognized only when it is 

earned.  When assets are recognized in connection with a transaction before the earnings process is 

complete, those assets are offset by a corresponding liability, unearned revenue. 

 

J.  Compensated Absences, Pension Benefits, and Other Postemployment Benefits 

 

The Commission does not have employees and consequently does not provide compensated absences, 

pension benefits, or other postemployment benefits. 
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NOTE 1:  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

K. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 

outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents 

a consumption of net assets that applies to future periods and so will not be recognized as an outflow of 

resources (expense/expenditure) until then. At June 30, 2024, the Commission did not have any deferred 

outflows of resources. 

 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 

deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, 

represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to future periods and so will not be recognized as an 

inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. At June 30, 2024, the Commission did not have any deferred 

inflows of resources. 

 

L. Interfund Transactions 

 

Interfund transactions are reflected as either loans, services provided or used, reimbursements or transfers. 

 

Loans reported as receivables and payables are referred to either “due to/from other funds” (i.e., the current 

portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other funds” (i.e., the noncurrent portion of interfund loans) 

as appropriate and are subject to elimination upon consolidation.  Advances between funds, as reported in 

the fund financial statements, are offset by a nonspendable fund balance in applicable governmental funds 

to indicate that they are not in spendable form. 

 

Services provided or used, deemed to be at market or near market rates, are treated as revenues and 

expenditures or expenses.  These services provide information on the net cost of each government function 

and therefore are not eliminated in the process of preparing the government-wide Statement of Activities. 

 

Reimbursements occur when the funds responsible for particular expenditures repay the funds that initially 

paid for them.  Such reimbursements are reflected as expenditures in the reimbursing fund and reductions 

to expenditures in the reimbursed fund. 

 

All other interfund transactions are treated as transfers. 

 

M. Estimates 

 

The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 

in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain 

reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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NOTE 1:  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

N. Implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements 

 

The following Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements have been implemented, if 

applicable, in the current financial statements. 

 

Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022. This statement will enhance comparability in the application of 

accounting and financial reporting requirements and will improve the consistency of authoritative literature.  

Consistent authoritative literature enables governments and other stakeholders to more easily locate and 

apply the correct accounting and financial reporting provisions, which improves the consistency with which 

such provisions are applied. The comparability of financial statements also will improve as a result of this 

Statement.  Better consistency and comparability improve the usefulness of information for users of state 

and local government financial statements.  

 

Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections.  The requirements of this Statement will 

improve the clarity of the accounting and financial reporting requirements for accounting changes and error 

corrections, which will result in greater consistency in application in practice.  In turn, more understandable, 

reliable, relevant, consistent, and comparable information will be provided to financial statement users for 

making decisions or assessing accountability.  In addition, the display and note disclosure requirements will 

result in more consistent, decision useful, understandable, and comprehensive information for users about 

accounting changes and error corrections. 

 

O. Future Accounting Pronouncements 

 

The following GASB Statements will be implemented, if applicable, in future financial statements: 
 

Statement No. 101  “Compensated Absences”  The requirements of this statement are effective for fiscal 

years beginning after December 15, 2023. (FY 24/25) 

 

Statement No. 102  “Certain Risk Disclosures”  The requirements of this statement are effective for fiscal 

years beginning after June 15, 2024. (FY 24/25) 

 

Statement No. 103  “Financial Reporting Model Improvements”  The requirements of this statement are 

effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2025. (FY 25/26) 

 

NOTE 2: STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

 

A. Deficit Fund Balance 

 

The Transportation Planning fund had a fund balance deficit of $57,638, which is expected to be eliminated 

in future years through increased revenues. 
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NOTE 3: CASH AND INVESTMENTS 

 

A. Financial Statement Presentation 

  

As of June 30, 2024, the Commission’s cash and investments consisted of the following: 

 
 Investments: 

  Sierra County Treasurer’s pool $            7,400 
 

   Total Investments  $            7,400 

 

B. Cash 

 

Custodial Credit Risk for Deposits - Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the 

failure of a depository financial institution, the Commission will not be able to recover its deposits or 

collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The Commission and County comply with 

the requirements of the California Government Code.  Under this code, deposits of more than $250,000 

must be collateralized at 105 percent to 150 percent of the value of the deposit to guarantee the safety of 

public funds. 

 

C.  Investments 

 

The Commission does not have a formal investment policy.  At June 30, 2024, all investments of the 

Commission were in the County of Sierra investment pool.  Under the provisions of the County’s 

investment policy and the California Government Code, the County may invest or deposit in the following: 

 

  Bankers’ Acceptances 

 Commercial Paper 

 Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) 

 Medium-Term Corporate Notes 

 California Asset Management Program (CAMP) 

 Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 

 Time Certificates of Deposit 

 Repurchase Agreements 

 Investment Trust of California (CalTRUST) 

 Securities of the Federal Government or its Agencies 

 

Fair Value of Investments - The Commission measures and records its investments using fair value 

measurement guidelines established by generally accepted accounting principles. These guidelines 

recognize a three-tiered fair value hierarchy as follows: 

 

 Level 1: Quoted prices for identical investments in active markets; 

 Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted market prices; and, 

 Level 3: Unobservable inputs 

 
The Commission’s position in external investment pools is in itself regarded as a type of investment and 

looking through to the underlying investments of the pool is not appropriate.  Therefore, the Commission’s 

investments in external investment pools are not recognized in the three-tiered fair value hierarchy 

described above. 
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NOTE 3: CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

C.  Investments (Continued) 

 

At June 30, 2024, the Commission had the following recurring fair value measurements: 

    
         Fair Value Measurements Using      
 

              Investment Type                   Fair Value    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3  
 
Investments by Fair Value Level 
 
 None   $                - $             - $             - $            - 
 
  Total Investments Measured at Fair Value - $             - $             - $            - 
 

Investments in External Investment Pool 
 
 Sierra County Treasurer’s Pool            7,400 
 
  Total Investments  $        7,400 

 
Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk of loss due to the fair value of an investment falling due to 

interest rates rising.  Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment the greater the sensitivity of its fair 

value to changes in market interest rates. To limit exposure to fair value losses resulting from increases in 

interest rates, the County’s investment policy limits investment maturities to a term appropriate to the need 

for funds so as to permit the County to meet all projected obligations. 

 
Credit Risk - Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder 

of the investment.  This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical 

rating organization. The County’s investment policy sets specific parameters by type of investment to be 

met at the time of purchase. As of June 30, 2024, the Commission’s investments were all held with the 

County of Sierra Investment Pool which is not rated by a nationally recognized statistical rating 

organization. 

 

Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a 

depository financial institution, the Commission will not be able to recover its deposits or collateral 

securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  With respect to investments, custodial credit risk 

generally applies only to direct investments in marketable securities.  Custodial credit risk does not apply 

to a local government’s indirect investments in securities through the use of mutual funds or government 

investment pools. 

 
Concentration of Credit Risk - Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of 

the Commission’s investment in a single issuer of securities.  When investments are concentrated in one 

issuer, this concentration presents a heightened risk of potential loss.  State law and the investment policy 

of the County contain limitations on the amount that can be invested in any one issuer.  All investments of 

the Commission were in the Sierra County Investment Pool which contains a diversification of investments. 
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NOTE 3: CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

D. Investments in External Pools 

 

The Sierra County Pooled Investment Fund is a pooled investment fund program governed by the County 

which monitors and reviews the management of public funds maintained in the investment pool in 

accordance with the County investment policy and the California Government Code. The Board of 

Supervisors review and approve the investment policy annually.  The County Treasurer prepares and 

submits a comprehensive investment report to the Board of Supervisors every month.  The report covers 

the type of investments in the pool, maturity dates, par value, actual cost and fair value.  Investments in the 

Sierra County Pooled Investment fund are regarded as highly liquid as deposits and withdrawals can be 

made at any time without penalty.  The Pool does not impose a maximum investment limit. Required 

disclosure information regarding categorization of investments and other deposit and investment risk 

disclosures can be found in the County’s financial statements.  The County of Sierra’s financial statements 

may be obtained by contacting the County of Sierra Auditor-Controller’s office at 326 Main Street, 

Downieville, CA 95936. 

 

NOTE 4: INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS 

 

Due From/To Other Funds 

 

During the course of operations, transactions occur between funds to account for goods received or services 

rendered.  These receivables and payables are classified as due from or due to other funds.  In addition, 

when funds overdraw their share of pooled cash, the receivables and payables are also classified as due 

from or due to other funds.  The following are due from and due to balances as of June 30, 2024: 
 

     Due From       Due To         

         Other Funds         Other Funds     
 

 Transportation Planning   $                        - $               73,670 

 Local Transportation                   73,670                            - 
 

  Total   $              73,670 $               73,670 

 

NOTE 5: UNEARNED REVENUE 

 

At June 30, 2024, components of unearned revenue were as follows: 
 

   Transportation Planning 

 PPM funds received in advance $          8,453  
 

  Total $          8,453  

 

NOTE 6: NET POSITION 

 

The government-wide financial statements utilize a net position presentation.  Net position is categorized 

as net investment in capital assets, restricted and unrestricted. 

 

• Net investment in capital assets - consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets, net 

of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, 

notes or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of 

those assets. 
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NOTE 6: NET POSITION (CONTINUED) 

 

• Restricted net position - consists of net position with constraints placed on the use either by (1) 

external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other 

governments; or (2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

 

• Unrestricted net position - all other net position that does not meet the definition of “restricted” 

or “net investment in capital assets”. 

 
Net Position Flow Assumption 

 

When a government funds outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted resources, 

a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied.  When 

both restricted and unrestricted net position are available, it is considered that restricted resources are used 

first, followed by the unrestricted resources. 

 

NOTE 7: FUND BALANCE 

 

As prescribed by GASB Statement No. 54, governmental funds report fund balance in classifications based 

primarily on the extent to which the Commission is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for 

which amounts in the funds can be spent.  Fund balances for governmental fund can be made up of the 

following: 

 

• Nonspendable fund balance - amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not in 

spendable form, or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.  The “not in 

spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to be converted to cash, for example: 

inventories and prepaid amounts. 

 

• Restricted fund balance - amounts with constraints placed on their use that are either (a) externally 

imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (b) 

imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.  Restrictions may 

effectively be changed or lifted only with the consent of resource providers. 

 

• Committed fund balance - amounts that can only be used for the specific purposes determined by 

formal action of the Commission’s highest level of decision-making authority. The Board of 

Commissioners is the highest level of decision-making authority for the Commission that can, by 

Board action, commit fund balance.  Once adopted, the limitation imposed remains in place until a 

similar action is taken to remove or revise the limitation.  The underlying action that imposed the 

limitation needs to occur no later than the close of the reporting period. 

 

• Assigned fund balance - amounts that are constrained by the Commission’s intent to be used for 

specific purposes.  The intent can be established at either the highest level of decision-making 

authority, or by a body or an official designated for that purpose. 

 

• Unassigned fund balance - the residual classification for the Commission’s Transportation 

Planning fund that includes all amounts not contained in the other classifications.  In other funds, 

the unassigned classification is used only if expenditures incurred for specific purposes exceeded 

the amounts restricted, committed, or assigned to those purposes. 
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NOTE 7: FUND BALANCE (CONTINUED) 

 

The fund balances for the governmental funds as of June 30, 2024, were distributed as follows: 
    

   State       

 Transportation Local        Transit        

      Planning      Transportation      Assistance          Total        

Restricted for: 

 Local Transportation allocations $                  -  $           98,455 $                   -  $     98,455  

 State Transit Assistance allocations -  - 105,701  105,701  

 State of Good Repair                     -                         -              6,283            6,283  
 

  Total Restricted                     -               98,455          111,984        210,439  
 

Unassigned (          57,638)                        -                      -  (       57,638) 
 

  Total ($        57,638) $           98,455 $       111,984  $   152,801  

 

Fund Balance Flow Assumption 

 

When a government funds outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted resources 

(the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance), a flow assumption must be made about 

the order in which the resources are considered to be applied.  When both restricted and unrestricted fund 

balance are available, it is considered that restricted fund balance is depleted before using any of the 

components of unrestricted fund balance.  Further, when the components of unrestricted fund balance can 

be used for the same purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first, followed by assigned fund balance.  

Unassigned fund balance is applied last. 

 

Fund Balance Policy 

 

The Commission follows the fund balance policy of the County which establishes procedures for reporting 

fund balance classifications and establishes a hierarchy for fund balance expenditures. 

 

NOTE 8: RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

The Commission is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 

assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The Commission is covered under 

the County of Sierra’s risk management programs. 

 

NOTE 9: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

The Commission has an informal agreement with the County of Sierra to manage its operations.  The 

County also provides engineering and construction services to the Commission upon request.  Related party 

expenditures incurred for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 were $128,550. 

 

NOTE 10: OTHER INFORMATION 

 

A. Subsequent Events 

 

Management has evaluated events subsequent to June 30, 2024 through December 6, 2024, the date on 

which the financial statements were available for issuance.  Management has determined no subsequent 

events requiring disclosure have occurred. 
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NOTE 10: OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 

B. State of Good Repair 

 

During the year ended June 30, 2024, the State Transit Assistance special revenue fund has a carryover 

balance of $19,272 plus State of Good Repair revenue of $6,410 for total amount of $25,682. For the year 

ended June 30, 2024, qualifying expenditures of $19,399 were incurred and the remaining carryover balance 

was $6,283. 
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Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Transportation Planning

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Actual Variance with
Amounts Final Budget

Original Final (Budgetary Positive
Budget Budget Basis) (Negative)

REVENUES
       Intergovernmental:
          Rural planning assistance 163,279$      163,279$      161,952$      (1,327)$         
          PPM -                    -                    19,093          19,093          

                 Total Revenues 163,279        163,279        181,045        17,766          

EXPENDITURES
       Planning and administration:
          Administration 29,000          12,000          8,701            3,299            
          Development and monitoring of the OWP 62,000          15,000          9,549            5,451            
          Project development 15,000          24,000          13,040          10,960          
          Regional Transportation Plan 5,000            25,000          14,039          10,961          
          Regional Transportation Improvement Program 1,000            10,000          5,817            4,183            
          Aviation 5,000            1,000            564               436               
          Transportation Studies 35,500          -                    -                    
          Intergovernmental review and public outreach -                    38,500          22,670          15,830          
          Miscellaneous 10,288          10,288          42,295          (32,007)         
       STIP programming, planning and monitoring 20,000          20,000          19,319          681               

                 Total Expenditures 182,788        155,788        135,994        19,794          

                 Net Change in Fund Balances (19,509)         7,491            45,051          37,560          

Fund Balances - Beginning (102,689)       (102,689)       (102,689)       -                    

Fund Balances - Ending (122,198)$     (95,198)$       (57,638)$       37,560$        

-22-
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Local Transportation

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Actual Variance with
Amounts Final Budget

Original Final (Budgetary Positive
Budget Budget Basis) (Negative)

REVENUES
       Intergovernmental:
          Local transportation fund allocation 78,924$        78,924$        86,396$        7,472$          
       Use of money -                    -                    1,616            1,616            

                 Total Revenues 78,924          78,924          88,012          9,088            

EXPENDITURES
       Planning and administration:
          Administration 1,000            1,000            10,030          (9,030)           
          Development and monitoring of the OWP 1,000            -                    -                    -                    
          Project development -                    1,000            -                    1,000            
          Aviation 75,000          500               -                    500               
          Transportation studies 1,000            20,000          -                    20,000          
          Intergovernmental review and public outreach -                    1,000            -                    1,000            
       Transit -                    -                    87,005          (87,005)         

                 Total Expenditures 78,000          23,500          97,035          (73,535)         

                 Net Change in Fund Balances 924               55,424          (9,023)           47,325          

Fund Balances - Beginning 107,478        107,478        107,478        -                    

Fund Balances - Ending 108,402$      162,902$      98,455$        47,325$        

-23-
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule

State Transit Assistance

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Actual Variance with
Amounts Final Budget

Original Final (Budgetary Positive
Budget Budget Basis) (Negative)

REVENUES
       Intergovernmental:
          State transit assistance allocation 25,000$        25,000$        50,146$        25,146$        
          State of good repair -                    -                    6,410            6,410            
       Use of money 1,500            1,500            3,580            2,080            

                 Total Revenues 26,500          26,500          60,136          33,636          

EXPENDITURES
       Planning and administration:
          Administration 200,000        200,000        -                    200,000        
       Transit -                    -                    74,717          (74,717)         

                 Total Expenditures 200,000        200,000        74,717          125,283        

                 Net Change in Fund Balances (173,500)       (173,500)       (14,581)         158,919        

Fund Balances - Beginning 126,565        126,565        126,565        -                    

Fund Balances - Ending (46,935)$       (46,935)$       111,984$      158,919$      

-24-
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Required Supplementary Information 

Notes to Budgetary Comparison Schedules 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 
 

-25- 

NOTE 1: BUDGETARY BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 

 

Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year. The 

Commission presents a comparison of annual budget to actual results for the Transportation Planning fund, 

Local Transportation fund, and the State Transit Assistance fund.  The amounts reported on the budgetary 

basis are generally on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 

of America (GAAP). 

   

The following procedures are performed by the Commission in establishing the budgetary data reflected in 

the financial statements: 

 

 (1) The Commission annually adopts a budget through the preparation of an overall work program.  

This work program describes the projects, or work elements, that are to be funded, and the type of 

funds that will pay for the expenditures, such as Rural Planning Assistance, Local Transportation, 

or State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP). 

 

(2) The work program, in draft form, is prepared by Commission staff, submitted and approved by the 

Commission, and submitted to the State of California, Department of Transportation 

(CALTRANS) before June 30. 

 

(3) CALTRANS, as the grantor of Rural Planning Assistance and STIP funds, approves the work 

program, which then becomes the budget for the operating fund of the Commission. 

 

(4) Additional sources of revenue and related expenditures not included in the Commission’s overall 

work program are incorporated to complete the Commission’s budget that reflects all anticipated 

activities for the year. 

 

(5) The Board of Commissioners may amend the budget by motion during the fiscal year. 

 

The Commission does not use encumbrance accounting under which purchase orders, contracts, and other 

commitments for the expenditure of monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable 

appropriation. 

 

NOTE 2: EXPENDITURES IN EXCESS OF APPROPRIATIONS 

 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, the Commission incurred expenditures in excess of appropriations 

as follows: 

 
   Excess of      

   Expenditures  

   Over        
 Appropriations Expenditures Appropriations 
 

Local Transportation $           23,500 $        97,035 $           73,535 
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Supplementary Information 
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Schedules of Allocations and Expenditures 
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

Schedule of Allocations and Expenditures

Local Transportation

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Adjusted
Allocations Allocations

Outstanding Outstanding
June 30, 2023 Allocated Expended Expired June 30, 2024

City of Loyalton Incorporated Senior Citizens
       99400(c) -$                    33,503$       33,503$       -$                 -$                    

County of Sierra Golden Rays
       99400(c) -                      33,502         33,502         -                   -                      

County of Sierra
       99400(d) -                      20,000         20,000         -                   -                      

                 Totals -$                    87,005$       87,005$       -$                 -$                    

-26-
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

Schedule of Allocations and Expenditures

State Transit Assistance

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Allocations Allocations
Outstanding Outstanding
June 30, 2023 Allocated Expended Expired June 30, 2024

County of Sierra
       6730(a) -$                     -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                     
       6730(b) -                       200,000       55,318         (144,682)      -                       

                 Totals -$                     200,000$     55,318$       (144,682)$    -$                     

-27-
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OTHER REPORT AND SCHEDULES         
 

• Other Report 

 

• Schedule of Findings and Recommendations 

 

• Schedule of Prior Year Findings and Recommendations 

 

• Management’s Corrective Action Plan 
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

-28-

950 THARP ROAD, SUITE 502 YUBA CITY, CA 95993 TEL: (530) 673-9790 FAX: (530) 673-1305 ACCOUNTING@SMITHANDNEWELL.COM 

SMITH & NEWELL 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 

REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN 

AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS AND THE RULES AND 

REGULATIONS OF THE TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT 

To the Sierra County Transportation Commission 

County of Sierra 

Downieville, California 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and the applicable fiscal audit requirements of the 

Transportation Development Act including Public Utilities Code Section 99245 and the California Code of 

Regulations Title 21, Section 6662, the financial statements of the governmental activities and each major 

fund of the Sierra County Transportation Commission (Commission), as of and for the year ended June 30, 

2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Commission’s basic 

financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated December 6, 2024. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Commission's internal 

control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Commission's internal control. 

Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Commission's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 

detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 

of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of 

the Commission's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 

severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 

governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 

section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 

weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 

exist that were not identified.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies 

in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  We identified a certain deficiency in 

internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and recommendations as item 2024-

001 that we consider to be a significant deficiency. 
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To the Sierra County Transportation Commission 

County of Sierra 

Downieville, California 

 

 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Commission's financial statements are free 

from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 

regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 

effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was 

not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 

disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 

Auditing Standards. 

 

Additionally, we performed tests to determine that allocations made and expenditures paid by the 

Commission were made in accordance with the allocation instructions and resolutions of the Commission 

and in conformance with the California Transportation Development Act.  Specifically, we performed each 

of the specific tasks identified in the California Code of Regulations Title 21, Section 6666 that are 

applicable to the Commission and tests to determine that certain state funds were received and expended in 

accordance with applicable bond act and state accounting requirements.  However, our objective was not 

to provide an opinion on overall compliance with such provisions.  Accordingly, we do not express such 

an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance that are required to be reported. 

 

Commission’s Response to the Finding 

 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the Commission’s 

response to the finding identified in our audit and described in the accompanying schedule of findings and 

recommendations.  The Commissions’ response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied 

in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 

 

Purpose of this Report 

 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 

and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 

control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 

this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
Smith & Newell CPAs 

Yuba City, California 

December 6, 2024 
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Schedule of Findings and Recommendations 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 
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2024-001 Budget (Significant Deficiency) 

 

 Criteria 

 

 California Government Code requires that appropriate operating budgets be adopted and amended as 

required and that expenditures not exceed the approved budget. 

 

 Condition 

  

 For the year ended June 30, 2024, we noted that the Commission incurred expenditures in excess of 

appropriations of $73,535 in the Local Transportation fund. 

 

 Cause 

 

 The Commission did not amend its budget for changes in the estimate of expenditures during the fiscal 

year. 

 

 Effect  

 

 Expenditures exceeded appropriations by $73,535 in the Local Transportation fund. 

 

 Questioned Cost 

 

 No questioned costs were identified as a result of our procedures. 

 

 Context 

 

 Not applicable. 

 

 Repeat Finding 

 

 This is a repeat of prior year finding 2023-001. 

 

 Recommendation 

 

We recommend that the Commission monitor expenditures so that they do not exceed the approved 

budget.  If budget revisions are required, we recommend that the Commission take appropriate action 

to amend the budget. 

 

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Action 

 

Refer to separate Management’s Corrective Action Plan for views of responsible officials and 

management’s responses. 
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Schedule of Findings and Recommendations 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 
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Audit Reference 

 

2023-001 

Status of Prior Year Audit Recommendation 

 

Budget 

 

Recommendation 

 

We recommend that the Commission monitor expenditures so that they do not 

exceed the approved budget.  If budget revisions are required, we recommend 

that the Commission take appropriate action to amend the budget. 

 

Status 

 

Partially implemented 
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Management’s Corrective Action Plan 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 

-32- 

2024-001 Budget (Significant Deficiency) 
 

We recommend that the Commission monitor expenditures so that they do not exceed the approved budget.  

If budget revisions are required, we recommend that the Commission take appropriate action to amend the 

budget. 
 

Management’s Response: The Commission’s expenditures exceeded the approved budget.  This was 

a result of staff not recognizing the expenditures had exceeded the budget.  

Management concurs with the finding in the 23-24 FY audit.  This will be 

reported to the Commission at the January 15, 2025, meeting for 

concurrence with this finding. 

 
Responsible Individual: Bryan Davey, Executive Director, Sierra County Transportation 

Commission 

 

Corrective Action Plan: Commission staff will closely monitor the actual expenditures during the 

year and seek a budget amendment prior to any expenditure exceeding the 

adopted budget.  The Commission will be advised of the planned action 

for this finding at the January 15, 2025, meeting. 

 

Anticipated Completion Date: January 15, 2025 
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SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
 

IN THE MATTER OF  
ACCEPTING THE FY23-24 AUDIT FOR  

THE SIERRA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION  
AND CONCUR WITH THE MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  

 
 

Resolution 2025-03 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED that the Sierra County Transportation Commission hereby accept 
the FY23-24 audit for the Sierra County Transit Fund and concur with the management response. 
 

ADOPTED by the Sierra County Transportation Commission on the 15th day of January, 
2025 by the following vote: 
 
AYES: _________________________________________ 
NOES: _________________________________________ 
ABSTAINED: _________________________________________ 
ABSENT: _________________________________________ 
 
 

  
       _____________________________________ 
                                                                    , Chair 
       Sierra County Transportation Commission 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Suzanne Smith, Executive Secretary 
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Sierra County Transportation Commission  
Meeting:  January 15, 2025 
Agenda Item 15 – Correspondence  
 
 

A. Letter from North State Super Region to the California Energy Commission pertaining to the 
Clean Transportation Program Investment Plan. 

      No action required.  

B. Email correspondence from the City of Loyalton regarding newly appointed Transportation 
Commissioners. 

No action required. 
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From: ofclerk-cityofloyalton@psln.com
To: Suzanne Smith
Subject: RE: Transportation Commissioners
Date: Thursday, December 19, 2024 10:09:13 AM

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Nancy will, Joy will not
 

From: Suzanne Smith <ssmith@sierracounty.ca.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, December 19, 2024 10:07 AM
To: ofclerk-cityofloyalton <ofclerk-cityofloyalton@psln.com>
Subject: RE: Transportation Commissioners
 
Okay, so currently I have:

Joy Markum
Sue McIlravy
Nancy Rogers
Bill Mertton - Alternate

 
You appointed:

Sue McIlravy
Bill Mertton
Jerry Gerow

 
Does Nancy and Joy stay on?
 
Suzanne Smith
Administrative Secretary
Sierra County Public Works & Transportation
101 Courthouse Square P. O. Box 98
Downieville, CA     95936
(530) 289-3201
 

From: ofclerk-cityofloyalton@psln.com <ofclerk-cityofloyalton@psln.com> 
Sent: Thursday, December 19, 2024 9:55 AM
To: Suzanne Smith <ssmith@sierracounty.ca.gov>
Subject: RE: Transportation Commissioners
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Bill Mertton is the alternate do I need more
Kathy
 

From: Suzanne Smith <ssmith@sierracounty.ca.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, December 19, 2024 9:44 AM

Agenda Packet page 249

mailto:ofclerk-cityofloyalton@psln.com
mailto:ssmith@sierracounty.ca.gov
mailto:ofclerk-cityofloyalton@psln.com
mailto:ofclerk-cityofloyalton@psln.com
mailto:ssmith@sierracounty.ca.gov
mailto:ssmith@sierracounty.ca.gov


To: ofclerk-cityofloyalton <ofclerk-cityofloyalton@psln.com>
Subject: RE: Transportation Commissioners
 
Hi Kathy,
 
No worries, I can imagine. Thank you! I’m sorry to ask but what about alternates?
 
Merry Christmas to you as well.
 
Suzanne Smith
Administrative Secretary
Sierra County Public Works & Transportation
101 Courthouse Square P. O. Box 98
Downieville, CA     95936
(530) 289-3201
 

From: ofclerk-cityofloyalton@psln.com <ofclerk-cityofloyalton@psln.com> 
Sent: Thursday, December 19, 2024 9:42 AM
To: Suzanne Smith <ssmith@sierracounty.ca.gov>
Subject: RE: Transportation Commissioners
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Hi Suzanne,
Sorry I got busy but yes we did appoint to Transportation Commission. They are as follows;
Sue McIlravy, Jerry Gerow, Bill Mertton
Let me know if you have any questions and have a Merry Christmas.
Kathy
 

From: Suzanne Smith <ssmith@sierracounty.ca.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, December 18, 2024 10:57 AM
To: ofclerk-cityofloyalton <ofclerk-cityofloyalton@psln.com>
Subject: Transportation Commissioners

 
Hi Kathy,
 
Were there new Transportation Commissioners appointed at last night's City Council meeting?
 
Thank you,
 
Suzanne Smith
Administrative Secretary
Sierra County Public Works & Transportation
101 Courthouse Square P. O. Box 98
Downieville, CA     95936
(530) 289-3201
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Sierra County Transportation Commission 
Meeting:  January 15, 2025 
Agenda Item 18 – Other Transportation Issues 

A. Informational speed zone justification report from the Department of Transportation, District
3 pertaining to Sierra City speed zone studies.

Background:  The Department of Transportation (Caltrans) conducted an Engineering and
Traffic Survey (E&TS) on State Route 49, in and around Sierra City from 1.03 miles north of
Loganville Campground to 0.13 miles south of Wild Plum Road. Periodic E&TSs are
necessary to endure zones remain enforceable.

Recommended Motion:  Direction to staff regarding submitting a response letter or conduct
a public meeting.
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State of California                                                                          Business, Transportation and Housing Agency 
 

03-Sie-49 P.M. 28.71-29.17    Page 1 of 1 

 
M e m o r a n d u m 
 
To: MARY BOKOVA, CHIEF                      Date: December 3, 2024 
                    Traffic Safety Branch 
                                                                                  File:  03/SIE/049 
         P.M 28.71 to 29.17  
         Retain 35 MPH  
  
From: JASON HUANG, PE 
 Traffic Operations Engineer 
 
Signature: 
 
 
Subject:  SPEED ZONE JUSTIFICATION 
 
This 0.46-mile long 35-mph speed zone traverses mostly residential and open areas, just west of 
Sierra City. The highway is two-lane conventional in mountainous terrain. 
 
85th Percentile 
Speeds 

Northbound: 36 mph 
Southbound: 37 mph 
 

District Collision 
Records  

There were 0 accidents (0 fatalities) in the three-year period from 
January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2023. The actual collision rate 
is 0.00 ACC/MVM (accidents per million vehicle miles) and the 
statewide average rate is 2.20 ACC/MVM.  
 

Conditions Not 
Readily Apparent 
to the Driver  
 

 
None 

Summary State collision records show that the average actual accident rate 
is 0.00 and below the statewide average rate. 
 
The 85th percentile speeds were 1 to 2 mph higher than the 
existing posted speed limit. Observed 50th percentile speeds were 
3 mph lower than the existing speed limit.  
 
Based on this information and our engineering judgement the 
existing 35 mph speed limit will be retained. 
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State of California                                                                          Business, Transportation and Housing Agency 
 

03-Sie-49 P.M. 29.17-29.425    Page 1 of 1 

 
M e m o r a n d u m 
 
To: MARY BOKOVA, CHIEF                      Date: December 3, 2024 
                    Traffic Safety Branch 
                                                                                  File:  03/SIE/049 
         P.M 29.17 to 29.42  
                       Retain 25 MPH  
  
From: JASON HUANG, PE 
 Traffic Operations Engineer 
 
Signature: 
 
 
Subject:  SPEED ZONE JUSTIFICATION 
 
This 0.25-mile long 25-mph speed zone traverses mostly commercial and residential areas, in and 
around Sierra City. The highway is two-lane in mountainous terrain. 
 
85th Percentile 
Speeds 

Northbound: 25 mph 
Southbound: 24 mph 
 

District Collision 
Records  

There was 1 accident (0 fatalities) in the three-year period from 
January 1, 2021, to December 31, 2023. The actual collision rate 
is 6.67 ACC/MVM (accidents per million vehicle miles) and the 
statewide average rate is 2.28 ACC/MVM.  
 

Conditions Not 
Readily Apparent 
to the Driver  
 

 
None 

Summary State collision records show that the average actual accident rate 
is 2.91 times the average accident rate and above the statewide 
average rate. 
 
According to State accident records, the primary collision factor 
was Other Than Driver (Medical Emergency). 
 
The 85th percentile speeds were 0 to 1 mph higher than the 
existing posted speed limit. Observed 50th percentile speeds were 
4 to 5 mph lower than the existing speed limit.  
 
Based on this information and our engineering judgement the 
existing 25 mph speed limit will be retained. 
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State of California                                                                          Business, Transportation and Housing Agency 
 

03-Sie-49 P.M. 29.425-29.67    Page 1 of 1 

 
M e m o r a n d u m 
 
To: MARY BOKOVA, CHIEF                      Date: December 3, 2024 
                    Traffic Safety Branch 
                                                                                  File:  03/SIE/049 
         P.M 29.42 to 29.67  
                       Proposed 35 MPH Zone 
    
From: JASON HUANG, PE 
 Traffic Operations Engineer 
 
Signature: 
 
 
Subject:  SPEED ZONE JUSTIFICATION 
 
This 0.25-mile long 25-mph speed zone traverses mostly residential and open areas, in and around 
the Sierra City area. The highway is two-lane conventional in mountainous terrain.  
 
85th Percentile 
Speeds 

Northbound: 36 mph 
Southbound: 36 mph 
 

District Collision 
Records  

There were 0 accidents (0 fatalities) in the three-year period from 
January 1, 2021, to December 31, 2023. The actual collision rate 
is 0.00 ACC/MVM (accidents per million vehicle miles) and the 
statewide average rate is 2.28 ACC/MVM.  
 

Conditions Not 
Readily Apparent 
to the Driver  
 

 
None 

Summary State collision records show that the average actual accident rate 
is 0.00 and below the statewide average rate. 
 
The 85th percentile speeds were 1 mph higher than the existing 
posted speed limit. Observed 50th percentile speeds were 4-6 mph 
lower than the existing speed limit.  
 
Based on this information and our engineering judgement a 35 
mph zone will be proposed. 
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